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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Darry Smalley, the appellant, asks this Court to accept

review of the Court of Appeals’ decision terminating review set

out in Section B, infra.

B. COURT OF APPEALS’ DECISION

Mr. Smalley seeks review of the unpublished opinion of the

Court of Appeals, Division Two, in State of Washington v. Darry

Daquan Smalley, No. 55212-4-II, issued December 28, 2022

(“Slip Op.”).  Appendix A.  Mr. Smalley filed a motion for

reconsideration, denied on February 16, 2023.  Appendix B. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. In a murder case, the trial court denied lesser-

included instructions of manslaughter because of its conclusion

that there was insufficient evidence that only manslaughter was

committed.  Was this test improper and should the murder count

be reversed because the evidence supported the giving of

manslaughter instructions?
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2. Mr. Smalley was entitled to manslaughter

instructions because the evidence supported the conclusion that

he reasonably believed that he needed to act in self-defense but

recklessly used more force than was warranted.  Did the Court of

Appeals erroneously decline to consider this argument, based on

a procedural theory not raised by the State, without giving Mr.

Smalley the opportunity to brief the issue?

3. Mr. Smalley aimed at three individuals and shot

them.  Is there sufficient evidence to sustain a conviction for

murder by extreme indifference in Count I?

4. Mr. Smalley and co-defendant Dominique Avington

were not the only people shooting in the incident.  There was no

evidence as to whose bullets struck Pearl Hendricks.  Was there

sufficient evidence to sustain the assault conviction in Count V?

5. The “act on appearances” instruction given in this

case was appropriate for homicide, CP 302, but not for assault. 
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Was the failure to give a proper “act on appearances” for assault

reversible error?

6. The State’s used a peremptory challenge against

Juror No. 32.  The defense objected under GR 37.  The trial court

did not follow the rule’s procedures and instead tried to guess

Juror No. 32's racial or ethnic identity.  Was this reversible error

and what should the procedure be when there is an issue about

how a juror identifies themselves?

7. Did the trial court err by precluding the defense from

recalling a key witness to testify about the proffer she gave to

federal authorities and to clarify that she did not believe Mr.

Smalley was making threats against her?

8. Did pervasive prosecutorial misconduct deny Mr.

Smalley due process and a fair jury trial? 

3



D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In October 2018, Darry Smalley had just turned 23 years

old.  He lived in Portland and came to Washington with some

friends.  He went to a nightclub in Lakewood.  A brawl broke out,

Smalley suffered a broken tooth, and he went outside.  One of the

main instigators of the fight, Perry Walls, also came outside and

continued his aggressive behavior, making threats to kill others. 

Two of Walls’ friends/associates, Denzel McIntyre and Terrence

King, were near-by.  Slip Op. at 1-2; Opening Brief of Appellant

(“OBA”) at 5-7.

Smalley and his friend, Dominque Avington, were afraid of

Walls, McIntyre and King.  They thought Walls was armed, both

testifying that Walls lifted up his shirt to expose a gun.  OBA at

5-7; 15RP 2362-63, 2370-73; 16RP 2499; Slip Op. at 9-10.

Mr. Smalley testified that to protect Avington he shot at

Walls, McIntyre and King. Avington testified he fired his gun to

protect himself, but did not aim at anyone.  Slip Op. at 9-10. 

4



Multiple other people also fired guns during the incident as

confirmed both by the security videos and by the discovery of

various shell casings inside and outside of the club.   OBA at 7-9.

Walls, King and McIntyre were all hit by gunshots, but

King’s wounds were fatal.  Another person who was simply in the

area, Pearl Hendricks, was also struck and severely injured.  Slip

Op. at 2.

By amended information filed in Pierce County Superior

Court, the State charged Mr. Smalley with first degree murder of

Mr. King based on  RCW 9A.32.030(1)(b) – “under

circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to human

life.”  CP 167.  The State also charged Smalley with three counts

of first degree assault related to Mr. Walls, Mr. McIntyre, and Ms.

Hendricks.  CP 168-69. 

The State charged several other individuals in connection

with the incident, but only Smalley, Dominque Avington and

Kenneth Davis proceeded to trial.  The defendants asserted that

5



they acted in self-defense or defense of another, and the jury was

so instructed.  CP 299, 301, 302, 303, 304, 327.  

The jury convicted Mr. Smalley and Mr. Avington of all

charges, but found Mr. Davis not guilty.  Although Mr. Smalley

was quite young at the time of the incident and had no criminal

history, with firearm enhancements the trial court imposed

standard range sentences totaling 929 months.  CP 371.

Mr. Smalley and Mr. Avington appealed.  In a partially

published opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed Avington’s

convictions, but this Court recently granted on the issue of lesser-

included instructions.  State v. Avington, 23 Wn. App. 2d 847,

517 P.3d 527 (2022), rev. granted 200 Wn.2d 1026 (2023).

In a later unpublished opinion issued on December 28,

2022, Division Two affirmed Mr. Smalley’s convictions, denying

reconsideration on February 16, 2023.  Apps. A & B.  

6



E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE
GRANTED

1. As in Avington, this Court Should Accept
Review of the Lesser-Included Offense Issue

a. Additional Facts

Mr. Smalley requested lesser-included offense instructions

of manslaughter in the first and second degrees for the murder

charge in Count I.  CP 188-192.  On October 19, 2020, there was

an unreported conference in open court to discuss jury

instructions.  17RP 2603-11.  The next day the parties made

formal exceptions.  Over defense exception, the trial judge

declined to give manslaughter instructions, ruling that the jury

could not rationally find that only manslaughter in the first degree

was committed.  17RP 2616-30.

On appeal, both Mr. Smalley (and Mr. Avington)

challenged the failure to give manslaughter instructions based on

this Court’s recent decision in State v. Coryell, 197 Wn.2d 397,

483 P.3d 98 (2021).  Smalley argued that trial judge in this case

7



explicitly used the wrong legal standard (that only the lesser was

committed) and inappropriately relied on his own conclusions

about the evidence rather than to look at the evidence in the light

most favorable to the defendants.  Relying on State v. Schaffer,

135 Wn.2d 355, 957 P.2d 214 (1998), Smalley (and Avington)

argued that they were entitled to manslaughter instructions if they

reasonably believed they were in imminent danger and needed to

act in self-defense, but recklessly or negligently used more force

than was necessary to repel the attack.  OBA at 14-19.

The State never argued that Smalley or Avington did not

preserve challenges to the failure to give lesser-included

instructions.  Instead, the State discussed Schaffer on its merits

and attempted to limit the case, arguing it was a short opinion that

the State (incorrectly) said was based on a State’s concession,

dealing with a case without video.  Brief of Respondent at 20-27.

The Court of Appeals refused to consider Smalley’s and

Avington’s arguments under Schaffer, concluding that the issue

8



was not preserved (citing RAP 2.5).  Slip Op. at 19 n. 4; Avington,

23 Wn. App. 2d at 859 n.6.  The court then held that the trial

court properly denied manslaughter instructions because Smalley

testified he “did not erratically fire toward an object, but rather

specifically fired toward a crowd of people outside of the club. 

Because Smalley specifically fired toward a crowd, there was no

evidence that would allow a reasonable jury to infer that Smalley

only committed manslaughter.”  Slip Op. at 22. 

Mr. Smalley’s motion for reconsideration was based on the

court’s refusal to consider the Schaffer argument on its merits.

b. The Court of Appeals Erred When
Not Considering All of Mr. Smalley’s
Arguments

RAP 12.1 prohibits an appellate court from deciding a case

on issues not raised by the parties without ordering additional

briefing.  As Division Three recently held, the policy behind RAP

12.1 is to preserve the court’s role as a neutral, rather than as

advocates.  State v. Moose, 24 Wn. App. 2d 456, 461, 522 P.3d

9



511 (2022).  It also violates due process of law protected by the

Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and

article I, section 3, of the Washington Constitution to decide a

criminal case on an alternative theory not raised by the parties

without adequate briefing.  See State v. Carter, 127 Wn.2d 836,

841, 904 P.2d 290 (1995); State v. Adamski, 111 Wn.2d 574, 580,

761 P.2d 621 (1988); State v. Wisdom, 187 Wn. App. 652, 664,

349 P.3d 953 (2015).

Here, the State did not object to consideration of the

Schaffer issue on procedural grounds and never argued that the

issue raised by Mr. Smalley was not preserved.  Had the State

claimed the instructional issue was waived, Mr. Smalley could

have addressed waiver on its merits, could have sought a remand

to complete the record of the unreported instructions’ conference,1

1 See State v. Waits, 200 Wn.2d 507, 517-24, 520
P.3d 49 (2022).

10



or could have raised ineffective assistance of counsel in a

supplemental brief.  

The Court of Appeals’ sua sponte refusal to consider a

meritorious issue in this case violates RAP 12.1 and due process

of law and calls out for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(3).

c. Mr. Smalley Was Entitled to
Manslaughter Instructions

A person charged with a crime has a constitutional right

under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and article I,

sections 3 and 22 to present a defense.2  “If the evidence  permits

a jury to rationally find a defendant guilty of the lesser offense, a

lesser included offense instruction should be given.” Coryell, 197

Wn.2d at 415 (citing Beck v. Alabama, 447 U.S. 625, 635, 100

S.Ct. 2382, 65 L.Ed.2d 392 (1980)).

2 See State v. Lynch, 178 Wn.2d 487, 491-92, 309
P.3d 482 (2013); State v. Corstine, 177 Wn.2d 370, 376, 300
P.3d 400 (2013).
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When determining whether a lesser-included offense

instruction is appropriate, a court must determine if (1) each of

the elements of the lesser offense is a necessary element of the

charged offense (“legal prong”), and (2) the evidence in the case

supports an inference that the lesser crime was committed

(“factual prong”).  State v. Workman, 90 Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 584

P.2d 382 (1978).

In past decisions, regarding extreme indifference murder

(RCW 9A.32.030(b)), this Court has held that manslaughter meets

the “legal prong” of the Workman test.  In re Pers. Restraint of

Sandoval, 189 Wn.2d 811, 821, 408 P.3d 675 (2018); State v.

Henderson, 182 Wn.2d 734, 742. 344 P.3d 1207 (2015).  

In this case, the trial court declined to give manslaughter

instructions because it concluded the “factual prong” was not met. 

Based on its own review of the evidence and its own credibility

determinations about the differences between the testimony and

the video, the trial court ruled that a jury could not “rationally

12



conclude that any of these defendants committed Manslaughter in

the First Degree to the exclusion of extreme indifference murder.”

17RP 2629 (emphasis added).  

In Coryell, this Court held the test applied by the trial court

-- “to the exclusion” – was erroneous.  Coryell, 197 Wn.2d  at

414-15.  Rather, the test is whether there is some evidence, from

whatever source, to support the defendant’s theory that the lesser

was committed.  Id.   Mr. Smalley satisfied this test.  The

evidence showed that if the shooting was not justified, Smalley’s

conduct met the recklessness or negligence required for

manslaughter.

When ruling against Mr. Smalley, Division Two stressed

that because Smalley aimed at the people he shot he was not

erratic in his use of force, and that therefore he could not have

committed manslaughter.  Slip Op. at 22.  However, just a few

pages later, in the context of the sufficiency analysis, Division

Two concluded, “While Smalley shot at Walls, McIntyre, and

13



King, he did not simply endanger only them; Smalley’s shots

endangered all of the people in the crowd around the entrance to

the club.”  Slip Op. at 23.  

If Smalley’s use of force was not justified, or if he used

excessive force under the circumstances as under Schaffer, this

would meet the definition of manslaughter.  Given how close the

recklessness of extreme indifference murder is to that required for

manslaughter, Henderson, 182 Wn.2d at 745, the jury would have

been entitled to find that Smalley committed manslaughter, not

murder, when he shot at Walls, McIntyre and King.  

The Court of Appeals recognized past cases involving

manslaughter and extreme indifference murder, but concluded

that to get a manslaughter instructions in an extreme indifference

case the defendant must shoot at “an object rather than at a group

of people.”  Slip Op. at 21 (citing Henderson and Sandoval).   

The “object-person” distinction is not supported by this

Court’s jurisprudence.  In Sandoval, the assailants intentionally

14



shot at a vehicle, not just to shoot at an object, but to effectuate

revenge on the occupants.  Sandoval, 189 Wn.2d at 816.  In

Henderson, although the defendant shot at a house for revenge,

it was an occupied house with people milling around outside of

it.  Henderson, 182 Wn.2d at 738-39, 745-46.  Neither Sandoval

nor Henderson stand for the proposition that a lesser of

manslaughter is only appropriate if the shooting was solely aimed

at an inanimate object with no people present.

The Court of Appeals’ decision conflicts with past cases

and Mr. Smalley’s constitutional rights were violated.  As with

Mr. Avington’s case, this Court should accept review under RAP

13.4(b)(1) and (3).

2. There Was Insufficient Evidence of Extreme
Indifference Murder

Mr. Smalley fired at Mr. Walls and the two people right

behind him, Mr. King and Mr. McIntyre.  All three intended

targets were shot.  16RP 2431-32.  Under these circumstances,

15



there was insufficient evidence under the Due Process Clauses

(U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3) and Jackson v.

Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979), to

support conviction for Count I.

First degree murder by extreme indifference requires proof

that the defendant “(1) acted with extreme indifference, an

aggravated form of recklessness, which (2) created a grave risk of

death to others, and (3) caused the death of a person.”  State v.

Yarbrough, 151 Wn. App. 66, 82, 210 P. 3d 1029 (2009).   First

degree murder requires a very high degree of risk, which

“elevates the level of recklessness to an extreme level, thus

‘manifesting an extreme indifference to human life.’”  State v.

Dunbar, 117 Wn.2d 587, 594, 817 P.2d 1360 (1991) (quoting

RCW 9A.32.030(1)(b)).

“Under this alternative, the State must show that the

defendant acted recklessly and with extreme indifference to

human life in ‘general[ ],’as opposed to simply endangering the

16



life of a ‘particular’ victim or victims.” State v. Pettus, 89 Wn.

App. 688, 694, 951 P. 2d 284 (1998) (quoting State v. Berge, 25

Wn. App. 433, 437, 607 P. 2d 1247 (1980)).  See also State v.

Anderson, 94 Wn.2d 176, 616 P.2d 612 (1980).

Division Two rejected the sufficiency argument because

“Smalley’s actions endangered an entire crowd of people, not

simply the three people that Smalley intended to shoot.”  Slip Op.

at 24.  This conclusion improperly focuses on the result of

someone’s actions rather than the defendant’s mental state.  Mr.

Smalley testified that he responded to someone else’s aggression

and fired his gun directly at those who he believed were

threatening his friends and himself, and in fact his shots were

tragically on target.  

The fact that Mr. Smalley shot people in a crowded area is

not dispositive since, as Division Two held in another case,

people in urban areas who use force to defend themselves may

have to fire guns in areas where bystanders may be endangered.

17



State v. O’Neal, 19 Wn. App. 2d 1047 (2021) (unpub.), Slip Op.

at 13.

Mr. Smalley’s mental state was not one of extreme

indifference, but either intentional or not, depending on whether

the State could disprove self-defense.  In closing, the State agreed

with this conclusion, arguing that “each and every time” the

defendants pulled the trigger it was a “deliberate act” and

“everywhere they pointed was where they meant to shoot.”  18RP

2658-59.  To be sure, Mr. Smalley fired off more rounds than just

those that struck Mr. Walls, Mr. King and Mr. McIntyre, but he

was not charged with murder based on those shots.  The murder

charge involved Mr. King, who was not an unintended victim and

who Mr. Smalley candidly admitted shooting at to protect himself

and Avington. 16RP 2401-04.

Mr. Smalley’s constitutional rights were violated and

review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(3).
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3. There Was Insufficient Evidence that Mr.
Smalley or an Accomplice Shot Pearl
Hendricks

Count V involved the assault of Pearl Hendricks, a

bystander who was shot four times as she re-entered the club.

13RP 1984-87.  It is unknown whose bullets hit Ms. Hendricks. 

Mr. Smalley did not aim at her and there were multiple other

people firing guns during the melee, including club employees

and an unknown person in the parking lot (“unknown” since Mr.

Davis was acquitted).  See OBA at 8-9.

It is possible that the person responsible for firing the

rounds that hit Ms. Hendricks was actually firing at Mr. Avington

and Mr. Smalley and was not “aligned” with them.  Smalley could

not be an accomplice to such a person.  See State v. Jameison, 4

Wn. App. 2d 184, 205, 207, 421 P.3d 463 (2018) (affirming

dismissal of a murder by extreme indifference prosecution where

someone shooting at the defendant’s friend killed a bystander:
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“They entered any fight from opposite poles” and did not share a

“common purpose.”).  

Because it was unknown who shot Ms. Hendricks, there is

insufficient evidence to sustain a conviction for Count V under

Jackson v. Virginia, supra, and the Due Process Clauses of the

Fourteenth Amendment and article I, section 3. Division Two

rejected this argument, but failed to mention Jameison, Davis’

acquittal, or the multiple other shooters involved.  Slip Op. at 24-

25.  

This Court should accept review and reverse under RAP

13.4(b)(2) (because of the conflict with Jameison) and RAP

13.4(b)(3) (because of the constitutional violation). 

4. The Trial Court Gave the Wrong “Act on
Appearances” Instruction for the Assault
Charges

People threatened with force in Washington can “act on

appearances” even if they are wrong about the degree of danger

they actually face.  See State v. Miller, 141 Wash. 104, 105-06,
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250 P. 645 (1926).  The proper “act on appearances” instruction

for non-homicide cases is WPIC 17.04, proposed by the defense

below.  CP 182.3  This instruction tracks the legislative

authorization for self-defense in non-homicide cases. RCW

9A.16.020(3), allowing for the use of force “[w]henever used by

a party about to be injured.”

The trial court did not give WPIC 17.04, but instead only

gave WPIC 16.07 (CP 302), the “act on appearances” instruction

used in homicide cases.  Under this instruction, someone  can

only “act on appearances” if that person believes in good faith

and on reasonable grounds that they and/or another is in actual

danger of “great personal injury.”

3 Although the defense proposed this instruction,
counsel did not except to the failure to give it.  Counsel was
ineffective assistance under the Sixth and Fourteenth
Amendments for the failure to except, although the Court of
Appeals addressed the issue on its merits.  Slip Op. at 25-26.
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The use of the homicide standard of fear in a non-homicide

case in this case conflicts with RCW 9A.16.020(3) and

diminished the State’s burden of disproving self-defense, thereby

denying Mr. Smalley due process of law and the right to bear

arms.  U.S. Const. amends. II & XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 3 & 24;

State v. Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d 856, 862-63, 215 P.3d 177 (2009).

Division Two rejected this argument, noting only that if

deadly force is used, WPIC 16.07 is appropriate, not WPIC 17.04. 

Slip Op. at 25-26.  The court did not cite to any cases, and its

decision conflicts with legislative intent under RCW

9A.16.020(3) which applies to non-homicide cases.  

This issue comes up regularly in different contexts with

differing results.  See State v. Brown, 21 Wn. App. 2d 541, 560-

64, 506 P.3d 1258 (2022) (counsel not ineffective for proposing

wrong “act on appearances” instruction in case involving defense

against felony); State v. Ackerman, 11 Wn. App. 2d 304, 314-15,

453 P.3d 749 (2019) (error to require fear of  “great personal
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injury” in defense against felony); State v. Woods, 138 Wn. App.

191, 201, 156 P.3d 309 (2007) (“In cases not involving death, the

use of force is justified if the defendant reasonably believed he

was about to be injured.”).  Because Mr. Smalley’s constitutional

rights regarding the assault counts were violated by the wrong

“act on appearances” instruction, review should be accepted

under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).

5. The Trial Court Violated GR 37

The State used a peremptory challenge against Juror 32. 

When the defense objected under GR 37, there was an extended

discussion about Juror 32's skin tone and ethnicity.  The State

used metaphors to describe her: “I guess I’d be curious to know

if anyone else in this courtroom thought she was anything other

than white as snow. I remember this juror and she was just white

as the day is long.” 6RP 933 (emphasis added).  The trial judge

complained about GR 37, wondered if he needed a “genealogy

report on jurors,” and ruled that an objective observer would not
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see “race or ethnicity as a factor” because Juror No. 32 “did not

appear in any respect to be a racial or ethnic minority.” 6RP 933-

943. 

On appeal, Mr. Smalley argued that the trial court erred by

not following the procedural steps of GR 37(d) & (e) – requiring

the State to provide an explanation for its challenge and only then

evaluating the justification.  The Court of Appeals rejected this

argument, holding that GR 37 does not apply unless the

challenged juror was “a member of a cognizable racial or ethnic

group.”  Slip Op. at 28.  

However, GR 37 is written neutrally and does not just

apply to challenges of members of cognizable racial or ethnic

groups which have been the historic victims of discrimination.

More importantly, the Court should accept review under RAP

13.4(b)(4) to explain the procedure that should be followed when

there is a dispute about a juror’s ethnicity. 
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Here, the State’s use of metaphors about skin tone when

describing the juror illustrates the need for the Court to provide

guidance.  Classifications based on phenotype and shaped by

observer characteristics do not always match how individuals

self-identify.  See N. Vargas, K. Stainback, “Documenting

Contested Racial Identities Among Self-Identified Latina/os,

Asians, Blacks, and Whites,” 60 Am. Behav. Scientist 442, 443

(2016).   See also State v. Listoe, 15 Wn. App. 2d 308, 332, 475

P.3d 534 (2020) (Melnick, J, concurring) (“I find it hard to

imagine that any judge or lawyer would be able to determine

every potential juror’s race solely through visual observation.”).

In this case, in the absence of juror self-identification, the

court and parties below were left to speculate about the

prospective juror’s group membership based on her physical

characteristics, a process necessarily tied to stereotypes.  Such

categorization of people by how they “look” – as occurred here –

recalls the very racism that GR 37 was meant to combat.  See,
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e.g., United States v Thind, 261 U.S. 204, 215, 43 S.Ct. 338, 67

L.Ed. 616 (1923) (racist opinion rejecting claim in naturalization

case that someone from India was a “white person” based upon

“familiar observation and knowledge” about “physical group

characteristics”).

In other contexts, this Court has required trial courts to step

in and take control of issues related to jurors and race.  See State

v. Berhe, 193 Wn.2d 647, 444 P.3d 1172 (2019).  Here, if th

jurors were never asked at the outset to self-report demographic

information, the trial court should have made sensitive inquiry to

find out how they self-identified.  This would have been more in

keeping with the policies of GR 37 than the type of crude

conclusions that occurred in this case.  The Court should accept

review under RAP 13.4(b)(4), and under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because

of the Fourteenth Amendment underpinnings of GR 37.  State v.

Jefferson, 192 Wn.2d 225, 242, 429 P.3d 467 (2018).
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6. Mr. Smalley Was Denied the Ability to Call
Witnesses

Erica Johnson was Mr. Smalley’s friend.  She testified

about  purchasing guns for Smalley and that she overheard

Smalley “bragging” about the shooting.  She also said someone

threatened to kill her boyfriend if she testified.  Mr. Smalley

wanted to recall her to testify in his case to clarify that she did not

think that Mr. Smalley was responsible for the threats.  He also

wanted to question her about telling federal authorities that

Smalley “seemed like he was kind of bragging” and may not have

known he actually shot anyone – statements not disclosed until

after she testified pursuant to the Jencks Act, 18 U.S.C. § 3500. 

Slip Op. at 7-8.

The trial court excluded the evidence and the Court of

Appeals affirmed, holding that the evidence was “collateral” and

“cumulative” and risked introducing prejudicial gang evidence. 

Slip Op. at 28-30.  This is incorrect.  Asking Johnson about the
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fact that she did not think Mr. Smalley was behind the threats

would not introduce gang evidence that would prejudice Smalley. 

The proposed testimony was not cumulative since it was based on

newly disclosed material showing that Johnson never told federal

authorities that Smalley actually “bragged.”

The trial court’s rulings violated Mr. Smalley’s right to due

process and compulsory process.  U.S. Const. amends. VI & XIV;

Const. art. I, §§ 3 & 22; Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319,

324, 126 S.Ct. 1727, 164 L.Ed.2d 503 (2006).  This Court should

accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

7. Pervasive Prosecutorial Misconduct
Requires Reversal

The scope and extent of the prosecutorial misconduct was

significant – pervading voir dire, opening, examination of

witnesses, and closing.  It is difficult to summarize everything

succinctly because there were so many instances of egregious

misconduct.  OBA at 45-46, 51-73. 
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The State complained to jurors about another case where a

juror’s distrust of the police led to a hung jury, wasting resources. 

5RP 720; 6RP 878-79.  It argued that if the jurors did not convict

because of unanswered questions, it would be a “miscarriage of

justice.” 18RP 2833.  It used the “puzzle” analogy and asked the

jurors to reflect “truth.”  18RP 2835-36, 2888; CP 382.  

The State argued false narratives. It claimed without

evidence the defendants had initially disputed identification and

only adopted self-defense (“blatantly lied” and “fiction”) as a

“Plan B” after they learned of the video evidence  18RP 2660-61,

2842; CP 426-27, 432-33.  The State said it did not call certain

witnesses because they would have lied, but then questioned why

the defense did not call them.  18RP 2881-83. The State

capitalized on the defense inability to recall Erica Johnson,

misleadingly arguing that Johnson had told the FBI Smalley was

“bragging” about the shooting. 18RP 2884-85.
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The State suggested that the defendants had a duty to

retreat, and that even if there was “justification” for the first shot,

there had to be “justification” or an “excuse” for the remaining

shots or the “claim” of self-defense “fails” because there were “no

free shots.”  18RP 2663-66, 2698, 2852-53; CP 403-04, 406, 410.

The State praised the police for their diligence, said self-

defense was “preposterous,” and dismissed defense counsel as

advancing any argument that would help their clients avoid being

held accountable “whether it is true or not.” 7RP 985; 18RP 2714,

2831-32.  

The State mocked the defendants (and Ms. Johnson) during

examinations and closing, snuck in gang evidence, sarcastically

repeating their testimony, questioning why they needed guns,

suggesting they should have contacted the police, minimizing

their fear of the police, raising Mr. Smalley’s silence upon arrest,

and calling self-defense “perverse” and “ridiculous,” compared

the case to a “firing squad” or an “ambush,” and referred to the
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defendants as “these three” or “this guy.”  See 7RP 976, 980-81,

984-85, 989, 994-95; 12RP 1892; 13RP 1967; 14RP 2271-81;

15RP 2308-78; 16RP 2401-51; 17RP 2537-99, 18RP 2657, 2659-

60, 2873; CP 224-33.

Overall, the State minimized the burden of proof and the

right of self-defense, vouched for the police, shifted the burden of

proof, argued facts not in evidence, commented on constitutional

rights, made personal opinions about credibility and guilt,

insulted the defendants and their lawyers, and unfairly took

advantage of the judge’s rulings.  Either individually or

cumulatively, this misconduct – intentional, flagrant and

prejudicial  – violated Mr. Smalley’s right to due process and a

fair jury trial in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth

Amendments and article I, sections 3, 21, and 22.  See State v.

Walker, 182 Wn.2d 463, 475-81, 341 P.3d 976 (2015).

Defense counsel did not object to each instance of

misconduct.  Yet, this case is unusual in that the trial judge
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chastised counsel for repeatedly objecting during the cross-

examination of his client and further persistent objections would

likely have resulted in counsel being sent to jail.  See 17RP 2535.

Even if counsel did not object to every instance of

misconduct, no instructions could have cured the prejudice. 

“There comes a time … when the cumulative effect of repetitive

prejudicial error becomes so flagrant that no instruction or series

of instructions can erase it and cure the error.” State v. Case, 49

Wn.2d 66, 73, 298 P.2d 500 (1956).  Review should be granted

under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4). 
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F. CONCLUSION

This Court should accept review and reverse and remand

for dismissal of Counts I and V and a new trial on the other

counts.

DATED this 16th day of March 2023.

I certify that this pleading contains 4998 words (as
calculated with the WordPerfect Word Count function), excluding
the categories set out in RAP 18.17.

Respectfully submitted,

s/ Neil M. Fox                      
WSBA No. 15277
Attorney for Petitioner
Law Office of Neil Fox PLLC
2125 Western Ave. Suite 330
Seattle, WA, 98121

Tel:     206-728-5440
email:  nf@neilfoxlaw.com
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STATUTORY APPENDIX



18 U.S.C. § 3500 provides in part:

(a) In any criminal prosecution brought by
the United States, no statement or report in the
possession of the United States which was made
by a Government witness or prospective
Government witness (other than the defendant)
shall be the subject of subpena, discovery, or
inspection until said witness has testified on direct
examination in the trial of the case.

GR 37 provides:

(a) Policy and Purpose. The purpose of this
rule is to eliminate the unfair exclusion of
potential jurors based on race or ethnicity. 

(b) Scope. This rule applies in all jury trials.
 

(c) Objection. A party may object to the use
of a peremptory challenge to raise the issue of
improper bias. The court may also raise this
objection on its own. The objection shall be made
by simple citation to this rule, and any further
discussion shall be conducted outside the presence
of the panel. The objection must be made before
the potential juror is excused, unless new
information is discovered. 

(d) Response. Upon objection to the
exercise of a peremptory challenge pursuant to this
rule, the party exercising the peremptory challenge
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shall articulate the reasons the peremptory
challenge has been exercised. 

(e) Determination. The court shall then
evaluate the reasons given to justify the
peremptory challenge in light of the totality of
circumstances. If the court determines that an
objective observer could view race or ethnicity as
a factor in the use of the peremptory challenge,
then the peremptory challenge shall be denied. The
court need not find purposeful discrimination to
deny the peremptory challenge. The court should
explain its ruling on the record. 

(f) Nature of Observer. For purposes of this
rule, an objective observer is aware that implicit,
institutional, and unconscious biases, in addition
to purposeful discrimination, have resulted in the
unfair exclusion of potential jurors in Washington
State. 

(g) Circumstances Considered. In making its
determination, the circumstances the court should
consider include, but are not limited to, the
following:

 
(i) the number and types of questions posed

to the prospective juror, which may include
consideration of whether the party exercising the
peremptory challenge failed to question the
prospective juror about the alleged concern or the
types of questions asked about it; 
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(ii) whether the party exercising the
peremptory challenge asked significantly more
questions or different questions of the potential
juror against whom the peremptory challenge was
used in contrast to other jurors; 

(iii) whether other prospective jurors
provided similar answers but were not the subject
of a peremptory challenge by that party; 

(iv) whether a reason might be
disproportionately associated with a race or
ethnicity; and 

(v) whether the party has used peremptory
challenges disproportionately against a given race
or ethnicity, in the present case or in past cases. 

(h) Reasons Presumptively Invalid. Because
historically the following reasons for peremptory
challenges have been associated with improper
discrimination in jury selection in Washington
State, the following are presumptively invalid
reasons for a peremptory challenge: 

(i) having prior contact with law
enforcement officers; 

(ii) expressing a distrust of law enforcement
or a belief that law enforcement officers engage in
racial profiling; 
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(iii) having a close relationship with people
who have been stopped, arrested, or convicted of a
crime; 

(iv) living in a high-crime neighborhood; 

(v) having a child outside of marriage; 

(vi) receiving state benefits; and 

(vii) not being a native English speaker. 

(i) Reliance on Conduct. The following
reasons for peremptory challenges also have
historically been associated with improper
discrimination in jury selection in Washington
State: allegations that the prospective juror was
sleeping, inattentive, or staring or failing to make
eye contact; exhibited a problematic attitude, body
language, or demeanor; or provided unintelligent
or confused answers. If any party intends to offer
one of these reasons or a similar reason as the
justification for a peremptory challenge, that party
must provide reasonable notice to the court and
the other parties so the behavior can be verified
and addressed in a timely manner. A lack of
corroboration by the judge or opposing counsel
verifying the behavior shall invalidate the given
reason for the peremptory challenge. 
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RAP 2.5 provides in part:

(a) Errors Raised for First Time on Review.
The appellate court may refuse to review any
claim of error which was not raised in the trial
court. However, a party may raise the following
claimed errors for the first time in the appellate
court: (1) lack of trial court jurisdiction, (2) failure
to establish facts upon which relief can be granted,
and (3) manifest error affecting a constitutional
right. . . . 

RAP 12.1 provides:

(a) Generally. Except as provided in section
(b), the appellate court will decide a case only on
the basis of issues set forth by the parties in their
briefs.

(b) Issues Raised by the Court. If the
appellate court concludes that an issue which is
not set forth in the briefs should be considered to
properly decide a case, the court may notify the
parties and give them an opportunity to present
written argument on the issue raised by the court.

RAP 13.4 provides in part:

(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance
of Review. A petition for review will be accepted
by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of
the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision
of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the
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Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published
decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a
significant question of law under the Constitution
of the State of Washington or of the United States
is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue
of substantial public interest that should be
determined by the Supreme Court. 

RCW 9A.16.020 provides in part:

The use, attempt, or offer to use force upon
or toward the person of another is not unlawful in
the following cases: . . . 

. . .

(3) Whenever used by a party about to be
injured, or by another lawfully aiding him or her,
in preventing or attempting to prevent an offense
against his or her person, or a malicious trespass,
or other malicious interference with real or
personal property lawfully in his or her
possession, in case the force is not more than is
necessary;

RCW 9A.16.050 provides:

Homicide is also justifiable when committed
either:

(1) In the lawful defense of the slayer, or his
or her husband, wife, parent, child, brother, or
sister, or of any other person in his or her presence
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or company, when there is reasonable ground to
apprehend a design on the part of the person slain
to commit a felony or to do some great personal
injury to the slayer or to any such person, and
there is imminent danger of such design being
accomplished; or

(2) In the actual resistance of an attempt to
commit a felony upon the slayer, in his or her
presence, or upon or in a dwelling, or other place
of abode, in which he or she is.

RCW 9A.32.030 provides in part:

(1) A person is guilty of murder in the first
degree when:

(a) With a premeditated intent to cause the
death of another person, he or she causes the death
of such person or of a third person; or

(b) Under circumstances manifesting an
extreme indifference to human life, he or she
engages in conduct which creates a grave risk of
death to any person, and thereby causes the death
of a person. . . .

RCW 9A.32.060 provides in part:

(1) A person is guilty of manslaughter in the
first degree when:
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(a) He or she recklessly causes the death of
another person . . . .

U.S. Const. amend. II provides:

A well regulated militia, being necessary to
the security of a free state, the right of the people
to keep and bear arms, shall not be infringed.

U.S. Const. amend. VI provides:

In all criminal prosecutions, the accused
shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial,
by an impartial jury of the state and district
wherein the crime shall have been committed,
which district shall have been previously
ascertained by law, and to be informed of the
nature and cause of the accusation; to be
confronted with the witnesses against him; to have
compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his
favor, and to have the assistance of counsel for his
defense.

U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1 provides in part:

No State shall make or enforce any law
which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of
citizens of the United States; nor shall any State
deprive any person of life, liberty, or property,
without due process of law; nor deny to any
person within its jurisdiction the equal protection
of the laws.
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Wash. Const. art. I, § 3, provides:

No person shall be deprived of life, liberty,
or property, without due process of law.

Wash. Const. art. I, § 21, provides:

The right of trial by jury shall remain
inviolate, but the legislature may provide for a jury
of any number less than twelve in courts not of
record, and for a verdict by nine or more jurors in
civil cases in any court of record, and for waiving
of the jury in civil cases where the consent of the
parties interested is given thereto.

Wash. Const. art. I, § 22, provides in part:

In criminal prosecutions the accused shall
have the right to appear and defend in person, or
by counsel, to demand the nature and cause of the
accusation against him, to have a copy thereof, to
testify in his own behalf, to meet the witnesses
against him face to face, to have compulsory
process to compel the attendance of witnesses in
his own behalf, to have a speedy public trial by an
impartial jury of the county in which the offense is
charged to have been committed and the right to
appeal in all cases. . . .

Wash. Const. art. I, § 24, provides:

The right of the individual citizen to bear
arms in defense of himself, or the state, shall not
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be impaired, but nothing in this section shall be
construed as authorizing individuals or
corporations to organize, maintain or employ an
armed body of men.

WPIC 16.07 provides:

A person is entitled to act on appearances in
defending [himself] [herself] [another], if that
person believes in good faith and on reasonable
grounds that [he] [she] [another] is in actual
danger of great personal injury, although it
afterwards might develop that the person was
mistaken as to the extent of the danger.

Actual danger is not necessary for a
homicide to be justifiable.

WPIC 17.04 provides:

A person is entitled to act on appearances in
defending [himself] [herself] [another], if [he]
[she] believes in good faith and on reasonable
grounds that [he] [she] [another] is in actual
danger of injury, although it afterwards might
develop that the person was mistaken as to the
extent of the danger. Actual danger is not
necessary for the use of force to be lawful.
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 
 

DIVISION  II 
 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, No.  55212-4-II 

  

    Respondent,  

  

 v.  

  

DARRY DAQUAN SMALLEY, UNPUBLISHED OPINION 

  

    Appellant.  

 
LEE, J. — Darry D. Smalley appeals his convictions for first degree murder and three counts 

of first degree assault.  Smalley argues that the trial court erred by denying his request for 

instructions on manslaughter as a lesser included offense of murder, there is insufficient evidence 

to support the jury’s verdicts on first degree murder and one count of first degree assault, the trial 

court erred by giving the incorrect jury instruction on self-defense, the trial court erred by failing 

to follow GR 37, the trial court denied Smalley’s right to present a defense, and there were multiple 

instances of prosecutorial misconduct.  We affirm.   

FACTS 

A. BACKGROUND 

 On October 20, 2018, Natosha Jackson was bartending at a club in Lakewood, Washington.  

Some of Jackson’s friends were having a birthday party in the VIP section of the club.  Early in 

the morning on October 21, Jackson got into an argument with some men at the bar.  Tired and 

frustrated, Jackson walked away from the bar.  Jackson asked her friend, Perry Walls, to watch out 

for her because she was being disrespected by a group at the bar.  Then Jackson went outside and 
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saw her boyfriend, Terrence King, and his friend, Denzel McIntyre, who had come to pick her up.  

Jackson went back into the club.   

 Inside the club, Walls confronted the group of men that Jackson had identified as being 

disrespectful to her.  This group included Smalley, Dominique Avington, and Kenneth Davis.  

Some of Walls’ friends from the party followed Walls over to the group.  After a short verbal 

confrontation, punches were thrown, and both groups were involved in a short fight.  The fight 

broke up and Smalley, Avington, and Davis left the club.  Walls was still upset about the fight and 

followed them outside.   

 Outside the club, King recognized Walls and moved toward him.  McIntyre followed King.  

Moments later, 30 shots were fired toward the club.  King, Walls, McIntyre, and many other club 

patrons tried to rush back inside.   

King was struck by two bullets in the back and died inside the club.  Walls was shot in the 

foot.  McIntryre was shot in the buttocks.  Pearl Hendricks, a woman who was running back inside 

the club, was shot four times, twice in the back.  Hendricks was left permanently paralyzed from 

the chest down.   

 The State charged Smalley with one count of first degree murder for King’s death.  The 

State also charged Smalley with three counts of first degree assault for the injuries to Walls, 

McIntyre, and Hendricks.  The State charged Smalley as both a principle and accomplice.  Later, 

the State amended the information to include an alternative count of second degree murder for 

King’s death.  The State also alleged the aggravating circumstance that the crime involved a 

destructive and foreseeable impact on persons other than the victim.  Avington and Davis were 

also charged, and they were set to be tried jointly with Smalley.   
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B. EXCUSAL OF JUROR 32 

 The State exercised its first peremptory challenge to excuse juror 32.  Avington, Smalley’s 

co-defendant, objected to the excusal of juror 32 under GR 37.  The trial court observed that juror 

32 did not appear to be a person of color or a minority.  Avington explained: 

[T]o my eye she appeared to be mixed with something, whether it was—it may 

have been native.  Just from looking, I guess looking at the hair color, her skin was 

a little bit darker, whether that was tan or natural melanin.  I think she was a 

minority or part of a minority group, racial or ethnic minority as provided in GR 

37, and so that’s why I stated the GR 37 objection to Juror No. 32. 

 

6 Verbatim Report of Proceedings (VRP) at 932-33.  The State argued that GR 37 did not apply 

because juror 32 did not appear to be “anything other than white as snow,” and “just white as the 

day is long.”1  6 VRP at 933.  When given the opportunity to offer input, Smalley stated: 

I believe that she is of part minority.  I didn’t see her in the way [the State] did, that 

was white as the day is long.  I’ve not heard that phrase, but I didn’t see her that 

way.  I thought that she may have been of some mixed race, but it would have been 

a small percentage at most. 

 And I don’t know how to weigh that out, but we had a conversation and 

[Avington’s counsel] says “you know, I really believe that she’s of mixed race.”  

And so, you know, I take his observations, and he’s been a lawyer for some period 

of time and has good insight into people, and he managed to speak to her and he 

felt that she was of mixed race and he made that objection.  So I don’t know who 

makes that finding.  I don’t know who makes that finding.  I don’t know how we 

make a test on it. 

   

6 VRP at 934-35.   

 The trial court noted that it was required to apply GR 37, but there was no guidance on 

how to determine whether someone is a racial or ethnic minority.  Based on appearances and name, 

the trial court identified six jurors it believed were racial or ethnic minorities, which did not include 

                                                 
1  We are dismayed at the State’s choice of words and caution against using such language. 



No.  55212-4-II 

 

 

4 

juror 32.  There is nothing in the record that indicates juror 32’s race or ethnicity, and the trial 

court did not identify juror 32 as a racial or ethnic minority.  The trial court granted the State’s 

peremptory challenge and dismissed juror 32.   

C. TRIAL 

 Prior to trial, all three defendants moved to exclude any gang evidence.  During the motion 

hearing, the State offered to withdraw the gang evidence if the defendants would stipulate to their 

identities as the shooters and rely on self-defense.  The defendants agreed to the State’s suggestion, 

and the State agreed to sanitize any reference to gang related evidence.   

The parties entered a comprehensive written stipulation identifying the defendants, as well 

as several other people, in various surveillance videos used as trial evidence.  The stipulation 

included several screen shots from the surveillance videos which the defendants stipulated were 

pictures of Smalley and Avington firing multiple rounds from semi-automatic handguns.   

 The trial court admitted the stipulation into evidence.  Jackson, Walls, and McIntyre 

testified to the background facts above.  Jackson explained that she told Walls, “‘I need you to 

watch my back tonight,’” because people were being disrespectful.  9 VRP at 1381.  Walls asked 

her who he should watch out for, and Jackson indicated the group by the bar.  When reviewing 

surveillance video during her testimony, Jackson remembered that she had returned to working 

behind the bar for a few minutes before the fight broke out in the club.   

 Walls explained that after Jackson told him she was being disrespected, he went over to 

the bar and “made a general announcement” asking who was being disrespectful.  11 VRP at 1725.  

Nobody responded.  A few minutes later, the group was “getting riled up” and looked to be 

“squaring off” to fight.  11 VRP at 1727.  Walls began pulling up his pants, preparing for a fight, 
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and got blind-sided by a punch.  Walls explained that the fight moved outside the club as people 

were pushed out the door.  Walls went outside and continued arguing with the guys outside.  While 

Walls was arguing, he heard shots fired, ran inside, and fell.  Inside the club, Walls realized he had 

been shot in the foot.  Walls testified that he never had a firearm in his possession.   

 Detective Jeff Martin of the Lakewood Police Department was assigned as the lead 

detective to investigate the shooting at the club.  Based on forensic examination of fired shell 

casings at the scene, Detective Martin determined there were three shooters firing from three areas.  

In total, forensics collected 30 shell casings from outside the club.  Six shell casings were .40 

caliber shell casings found at the corner of the adjacent grocery store.  Seventeen 9mm shell 

casings were found partially intermixed with the .40 caliber shell casings.  Another seven shell 

casings were found in the parking spaces east of the grocery store.  Although forensics was able 

to identify fired shell casings at the scene, forensics only examined one bullet that struck a victim—

specifically, one of the bullets that struck King in the back.  The bullet could have been a 9 mm, 

but was definitely not a .40 caliber bullet.  Through his investigation, Detective Martin also 

identified Avington, Smalley, and Davis as part of a group that had been together at a different 

club before going to the club in Lakewood.   

 Later in the investigation, a firearm that was purchased for Smalley was recovered at 

Redondo Beach.  The investigation also showed that a friend of Smalley’s, who was on GPS 

monitoring for parole, was at Redondo Beach after the shooting.   

Following the shooting, Smalley fled to Hawaii, where he was arrested.  At the time of his 

arrest, Smalley was carrying identification and bank card belonging to another person.   
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 1. Johnson’s Testimony 

 Erica Johnson testified that Smalley is her fiancé’s cousin and she had known him for about 

seven or eight years.  Smalley often stayed at Johnson’s house several times a week.  In October 

2018, Johnson purchased a firearm for Smalley.  And in January 2020, Johnson pleaded guilty to 

the federal offense of causing the sale of firearm without a background check.  Johnson had 

purchased for Smalley a total of three or four guns, including a Ruger 9mm pistol.   

 Johnson also testified that Smalley had been at her home the morning after the shooting.  

While at the house, Johnson heard Smalley was talking to Johnson’s fiancé about what had 

happened the night before.  Johnson also heard Smalley say that he called a girl a “bitch,” the girl 

called someone over, and a fight broke out.  12 VRP at 1882.  Johnson did not remember hearing 

Smalley saying anything else about a shooting while at her home.   

 Johnson had been interviewed several times by federal authorities, as well as by detectives, 

prosecutors, and defense attorneys.  The State confronted Johnson with statements she had made 

during the interviews in which she stated that she overheard Smalley say that he also fired shots 

from the parking lot.  Johnson testified that she had told federal authorities that Smalley was 

bragging about the shooting.2  However, later in her trial testimony, Johnson denied Smalley made 

                                                 
2  Specifically, Johnson testified as follows: 

 

[STATE:] Do you remember also telling federal authorities that when 

[Smalley] was confessing to the shooting, he was bragging about 

it? 

[JOHNSON:] And I believe I had clarified that just Tuesday, and I didn’t use the 

proper words.  It was more like amped up, if you remember that. 

[STATE:] So initially you told federal authorities that [Smalley] was bragging 

about this shooting, correct? 

[JOHNSON:] Yeah. 
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the statements, claimed that she did not remember, and stated that she was only telling authorities 

what they wanted to hear.   

 Smalley cross-examined Johnson regarding her statements to federal authorities.  Smalley 

had Johnson clarify that originally her statements had been focused on the gun purchases and it 

was only immediately prior to trial that the State began asking her questions related to Smalley’s 

behavior the morning after the shooting.  Smalley then cross-examined Johnson on her 

observations of Smalley when he was at her house the morning after the shooting.  Johnson 

clarified that she used the wrong word when she said Smalley was “bragging.”  12 VRP at 1913.  

Rather, she meant Smalley “‘was really affected by it; he was really nervous by it; he was really 

amped up.’”  12 VRP at 1913.  Neither Avington nor Davis cross-examined Johnson.   

 After cross-examination was completed, the State addressed the trial court without the jury 

present.  The State requested permission to ask Johnson about threats that had been made against 

her for testifying.  The trial court determined that it was clear that Johnson had “been deliberately 

evasive, unwilling to answer questions, especially questions put to her by the prosecutor.”  12 VRP 

at 1920.  The trial court thought it was important for the jury to hear a potential explanation for 

why the witness may have changed her story repeatedly throughout her testimony.  The trial court 

ruled that a limited inquiry into the threats was appropriate with a limiting instruction, and trial 

court cautioned the parties to avoid any reference to gangs.   

 Johnson then testified that, before she was called to testify as a witness at trial, her fiancé 

told her that if she testified “people would be out to get” them and their family.  12 VRP at 1935.  

                                                 

 

14 VRP at 1896-97.   
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Johnson was told that “if [she] were to testify, [her fiancé] would be greenlighted, shot, killed, and 

whoever is in the way of them trying to get to him will be shot and killed as well.”  12 VRP at 

1935.  On recross-examination, Smalley had Johnson clarify that no threat was made directly to 

Johnson.  Further, Johnson denied that the threat affected her testimony.  Both Avington’s and 

Davis’ recross-examination focused on the fact that Johnson did not know Avington or Davis.  The 

State offered a brief re-redirect.  Smalley attempted to again cross-examine Johnson based on 

Avington’s and Davis’ recross-examination.  The trial court would not allow Smalley to further 

recross-examine Johnson based on the co-defendants’ questions, and Johnson was excused.   

 Later in the trial, Smalley moved to recall Johnson.  Smalley explained that he had recently 

received the redacted proffer from the U.S. Attorney’s Office regarding Johnson’s statement, 

which indicated Johnson said, “[Smalley] seemed like he was kind of bragging.”  14 VRP at 2283.  

Smalley claimed that this was a different from what she said on the stand.  Smalley also wanted 

Johnson to clarify whether Smalley knew that King had died or others had been shot at the time 

she overheard his statements.  Finally, Smalley wanted to ask Johnson if she believed that Smalley 

would have threatened her.   

 The trial court noted that Johnson had provided extensive testimony about whether Smalley 

had been bragging and whether Smalley knew that people had been shot at the time Johnson 

overheard him.  The trial court expressed concern that further questioning regarding the potential 

source of the alleged threat would open the door to the gang evidence that had been excluded.  The 

trial court denied Smalley’s request to recall Johnson.   
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 2. Smalley’s and Avington’s Testimony 

 Smalley and Avington testified in their own defense.  They both testified that they were 

friends.  Avington explained that he had known Smalley for years.  Although neither of them 

intended to meet the night of the shooting, they ended up at the same club earlier in the night.  

Then the entire group went to the club in Lakewood.   

 Smalley testified that while they were at the club, Walls started yelling at and threatening 

Smalley’s group.  Smalley recognized that the confrontation was turning into an argument and 

people in both groups were getting ready to fight.  Smalley was trying to stay out of the fight.  One 

of Walls’ friends threw a punch that did not hit anyone, and the fight erupted.   

During the fight, Smalley was grabbed and thrown to the ground.  The man who slammed 

Smalley to the ground ran out the door.  Smalley believed the man went to get a gun, so Smalley 

tried to get out of the club.  Smalley ran out into the parking lot to his car and grabbed his gun 

from the passenger door.  As Smalley headed back toward the club, he saw Avington outside in an 

aggressive confrontation with Walls.  Although the confrontation appeared aggressive, Smalley 

could not hear any words being spoken.  Smalley also saw two other men behind Walls that 

Smalley believed were involved in the confrontation.   

 Smalley testified that during the confrontation outside, Walls displayed a firearm.  As soon 

as Walls showed his firearm, Smalley began firing.  Smalley testified that Walls’ firearm was a 

black, semi-automatic.  When Smalley saw Walls’ firearm, he was scared that Walls would shoot 

him or Avington.  Smalley felt that 

if I let [Walls] pull that gun out, then not just my life but my friend’s life is in danger 

and that we will be shot, so I shoot first.  
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15 VRP at 2375.  Avington also started shooting at the same time, but Smalley claimed that there 

was no communication between them before the shooting began.   

 Smalley admitted that he believed he shot King, although he was not sure who shot 

Hendricks because there were three people shooting.  Smalley also admitted that he was shooting 

at Walls.  Smalley testified that he fired 16 or 17 times at Walls, King, and McIntyre.   

 After the shooting, Smalley spent the night at a hotel.  In the morning, he stopped at a gas 

station and gave his firearm to a friend.  Smalley did not see the firearm after that.  Smalley then 

went to Johnson’s house around 7:30 in the morning.  Several days later, after learning that one 

person at the club had been killed and three others had been shot, Smalley bought a friend’s 

identification and debit card.  Then Smalley traveled through California to Hawaii.   

 Avington testified that he had a .40 caliber firearm with him and brought it inside the club.  

While at the bar, Walls confronted Avington’s group and a fight started.  Avington then left the 

club.   

 Avington also testified that Walls confronted him outside the club.  According to Avington, 

Walls threatened to kill him, pulled up his shirt, and displayed a firearm.  Avington stated that he 

fired only to scare Walls and to keep Walls from shooting at him.  Avington specifically testified 

that he fired high and to the right.  Avington claimed that he purposefully shot away from all of 

the people.  Avington admitted his rounds could have struck the club, but that they could not have 

struck people.  Avington explained that he only wanted to scare Walls away from him.   
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 3. Motion to Dismiss 

 After the defendants testified, Smalley filed a motion to dismiss based on prosecutorial 

misconduct during Smalley’s cross-examination, arguing that the prosecutor repeatedly engaged 

with Smalley in “an aggressive, dismissive, and demeaning manner.”  Clerk’s Papers (CP) at 225.  

Smalley also argued that the prosecutors acted to deliberately enflame the passions of the jury by 

having Smalley narrate the surveillance video showing Hendricks injured on the ground while 

being asked questions about whether the video showed Walls having a gun.   

 The trial court found that the prosecutor’s cross-examination was appropriately 

aggressive—no more aggressive than the defense counsel’s cross-examination of State witnesses.  

And the trial court specifically found that the prosecutor’s cross-examination was not dismissive 

or demeaning.  The trial court also found that the cross-examination of the video was appropriate 

because it was in response to Smalley’s direct testimony.  And the trial court found that the 

prosecutor did not ask rhetorical questions in order to inject his personal opinion into the cross-

examination.  The trial court explicitly stated, “I am not finding any misconduct by the prosecutor 

during this cross-examination, none whatsoever.”  17 VRP at 2535.  The trial court denied the 

motion to dismiss.   

 4. Snapchat Videos  

 After the trial court admitted certain videos, Smalley’s counsel notified the trial court that 

he had seen a gang sign in one of the snapchat videos from Avington’s phone.  Smalley moved to 

excise the portion of the video that showed the gang sign.  Smalley’s counsel admitted he did not 

see a gang sign in the video, but Smalley had recognized it and informed him it was in the video.  

Smalley’s counsel also stated, “I’m sure the State didn’t see it; the State would not have offered it 
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had it known there was a gang sign thrown up in there.”  14 VRP at 2272.  The defense attorneys 

admitted that they had not actually watched all the videos that the State provided in discovery a 

year and a half earlier.  The trial court determined that it had not actually been established that the 

video contained any gang signs.  Further, the trial court wanted to know if it was plausible to have 

the video altered to remove the alleged gang sign from the video.  The trial court deferred its ruling.   

 The next morning, the trial court revisited the issue of gang signs in the Snapchat videos.  

However, the trial court ultimately decided to defer its ruling again in order to continue presenting 

evidence to the jury.   

 Later, the State argued that it did not know that any of the hand gestures in the video were 

gang signs and there was no evidence that the hand gestures were gang signs.  At this point, 

Smalley’s attorney claimed that the prosecutors must have known that the videos contained gang 

signs because they were experienced gang prosecutors.  Both prosecutors told the trial court that 

they did not recognize the hand gestures as gang signs.  During the discussion about the snapchat 

videos, the trial court explicitly stated that it did “not conclude that any lawyer in this case is trying 

to inject gang-related evidence into this case deliberately.”  16 VRP at 2520.  The trial court ruled: 

I am not convinced that this is in any way unfairly prejudicial.  I am not convinced 

that any juror would leap to the conclusion that defense counsel fear in this instance.  

I am denying the request, the motion to direct the State to redact these items of 

evidence that have already been admitted. 

 I’m going to order that no attorney is to make any reference to whatever 

hand signs are put up there in these Snapchat videos or to that portion of the video 

inside the bar where it appears that Mr. Walls and his companion are putting up 

some kind of hand sign gestures.  There’s not going to be any reference to that in 

argument by any attorney.  That is the order of the Court. 

 

16 VRP at 2526.   
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 5. Surveillance Videos    

 Videos from the surveillance system at the club, as well as surveillance videos from a 

neighboring business, were admitted into evidence.   

 Video of the front entrance area of the club shows the fight getting pushed outside, while 

Walls and others continued yelling and posturing at the entrance of the club.  As they are leaving, 

Smalley and Avington are shown in the front entrance of the club standing so close together their 

shoulders are touching and their heads are close together.3  The pushing and shoving continued 

before Walls exited the club.  Less than a minute after Walls exited the club, the shooting began.   

 Video outside the club shows Avington and Smalley leaving the club at the same time.  As 

they exit the club, Smalley appears to bump Avington’s chest with his hand before running into 

the parking lot.  Avington remains at the entrance of the club where it appears the altercation 

continues with people still inside the entrance of the club.  Avington and others move away from 

the club entrance and into the parking lot as Walls exits the club.  Walls is then on the video for 

the entire time leading up to the shooting, and the video shows both of Walls’ arms are at his side 

the entire time.  As soon as the shooting starts, Walls turns and runs back into the club.  Smalley 

and Avington are not in the frame of this video when the shooting occurs.   

 However, a surveillance video from a neighboring business shows Smalley and Avington 

at the time of the shooting.  Avington stipulated that a screenshot from the video showed him firing 

multiple bullets while standing square, facing forward with his arm almost parallel to the ground 

and pointing forward.  The surveillance video also shows Avington in this stance firing multiple 

                                                 
3  There is no audio in the surveillance video.   
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bullets at the entrance of the club.  Smalley is to Avington’s left, standing slightly behind him.  

The video shows that after the shooting, Avington and Smalley ran away in the same direction.   

 6. Jury Instructions  

 Smalley proposed instructions on self-defense for both the murder charges and the assault 

charges.  Smalley’s proposed self-defense instruction for the assault charges stated: 

A person is entitled to act on appearances in defending himself or another, 

if that person believes in good faith and on reasonable grounds that he or another is 

in actual danger of injury, although it afterwards might develop that the person was 

mistaken as to the extent of the danger.  Actual danger is not necessary for the use 

of force to be lawful. 

 

CP at 182.  Smalley proposed a similar self-defense instruction for the murder charges, but the 

instruction stating that a person is entitled to act on appearance of defending himself as it related 

to self-defense for the murder charges stated that a person must believe there is actual danger of 

“great personal injury,” which is a higher standard than the assault self-defense instruction where 

the person must believe there is only an actual danger of “injury.”  CP at 184.   

 The trial court conducted off-the-record discussions of the jury instructions.  But the trial 

court took exceptions to the court’s instructions on the record.  Smalley did not take exception to 

any of the self-defense instructions.  Smalley also did not take exception to the trial court not 

including Smalley’s proposed instruction regarding the right to act on appearances of defending 

from injury.   

 Smalley also proposed jury instructions for first degree manslaughter as a lesser included 

offense.  After an off the record discussion on jury instructions, Smalley took exception to the trial 

court’s refusal to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of first degree manslaughter.   
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The trial court provided an extensive ruling on its decision to not include the lesser included 

offense instruction.  The trial court went through multiple factors that supported the decision to 

deny the lesser included offense instruction, including: (1) there was video of the shooting rather 

than only conflicting eyewitness testimony, (2) there were approximately 25 people in the 

unobstructed line of fire, (3) most of the 30 shots that were fired landed very close to people and 

8 shots actually struck people, (4) the distance from where Smalley and Avington were firing was 

estimated 35 feet to Walls and 60 feet to the door of the club, and (5) the physical evidence 

demonstrated that the shots were directed toward the crowd rather than fired erratically.  

Ultimately, the trial court concluded that the jury could not rationally conclude that only first 

degree manslaughter was committed.   

 7. Closing Arguments 

 The State argued that Smalley, Avington, and Davis were acting as accomplices because 

all three were working together from the beginning of the fight in the club and had the same 

objective and mindset.  The State’s theory of the case was that all three defendants chose to act 

together to “make a statement.”  18 VRP at 2658.  The State pointed out that after they made this 

statement, they fled and hid, and it took months for law enforcement to locate them.  18 VRP 2714.  

The State referenced that finding the defendants was “[g]reat police work.”  18 VRP at 2714.  The 

State also went on to argue, “This self-defense claim is preposterous considering the outstanding 

law enforcement work on identifying them.”  18 VRP at 2714.      

 The State also argued that the defendants failed to prove that they acted in self-defense.  

The State contended that the defendants initially claimed identity as a defense but had to switch 

their defense to self-defense: “The reality is, the defendants’ initial defense must have been 
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identity, what we call identity; ‘it wasn’t me.’”  18 VRP at 2660.  However, once the defendant’s 

learned that there were multiple videos showing their participation in the crime they “had to switch 

to plan B, self-defense.”  18 VRP at 2661.   

 The State went on to argue that there was no evidence to support the claim of self-defense 

because Walls did not have a gun and Walls did not threaten anyone.  The State also argued that 

there is no evidence that Walls made any specific and deadly threat to support self-defense.  The 

State then went on to discuss in detail the evidence it believed showed that Walls had no gun and 

was not a threat to the defendants.  The State argued that the video evidence showed that Smalley, 

Avington, and Davis were preparing for the shooting before Walls even exited the club.  And the 

State argued that the defendants’ actions and body language show they were intending to shoot 

toward the entire crowd at the club rather than trying to specifically defend themselves against 

Walls.  The State also reviewed the defendant’s testimony in detail to show that it did not support 

the claim of self-defense.  The State then argued that, even if the first shot that the defendants fired 

was justified, Smalley had no “excuse” for the other 16 shots.  18 VRP at 2852-53.   

 In rebuttal argument, prior to getting into the substance of the case, the State acknowledged 

the roles the attorneys played in the case.  The State emphasized that a person charged with a crime 

is entitled to have an attorney to protect their rights and advocate for their best interests.   

 The State also discussed its burden of proof.  The State argued that failing to hold the State 

to its burden of proof and convicting a defendant when the State did not prove all the required 

elements would be a miscarriage of justice.  The State then asserted the converse was also true, if 

the “State proves all four elements of the crime, but because there are other things you don’t know 

for certain, because there’s some fifth or sixth thing that’s unanswered or that’s not clear, you find 
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the defendant’s not guilty.  That’s a miscarriage of justice, too.”  18 VRP at 2833.  The State 

recognized that beyond a reasonable doubt was a difficult concept that is not encountered in daily 

decision making.  The prosecutor offered an analogy to help explain the concept of reasonable 

doubt: 

Let me offer an analogy for you that may make sense and may be helpful, 

and that’s to consider it in the way you do a puzzle . . . . You sit down and put that 

puzzle together, and you might find as you go along that there are pieces of the 

puzzle you don’t know what to do with and so you set them aside; you can’t find 

the right place for them.   

 There are pieces of the puzzle that are broken or warped, chipped, cracked, 

whatever.  There are pieces of the puzzle that maybe they were gone before you 

even sat down, and nevertheless, if you have enough pieces of the puzzle there will 

come a point at which, and it’s personal for each of you, there will come a point at 

which you are certain as to the image you are seeing despite the fact that there are 

warps in the puzzle pieces, despite the fact that you have missing pieces. 

 Now think of a trial in much the same way.  You are given pieces of 

evidence like pieces of a puzzle.  Some of those pieces of evidence you may not 

know what to do with.  Maybe it’s one thing a witness said.  Maybe it’s everything 

a witness said, and so you set that piece aside.  Maybe there are pieces of evidence 

that have warps or cracks or chips, but you can still put them into their place.  

Maybe there are pieces of evidence that you could conjure up as having existed 

somewhere out in the ether that just were never presented to you, like those missing 

puzzle pieces. 

 And the question for you all as jurors is—and, again, it’s a personal decision 

for each of you—the question is whether you have enough pieces of evidence warps 

and all, holes and all, with what you put into place, does it meet the elements of the 

crime and are you confident beyond a reasonable doubt as to the image you are 

seeing.  I offer that as an analogy as you move forward. 

 

18 VRP at 2835-36.   

 The State again engaged in an extensive discussion of the evidence that Walls did not have 

a gun and the defendants raised self-defense when it was clear that they were involved in the 

shooting.  The State also clarified the burden of proof: 

This is important, too.  These defendants when they testified—or, sorry—

these defendants have no burden of proof.  Let’s be clear about that.  If you choose 
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to put on a case, that’s your right.  If you choose not to put on a case, that’s your 

right.  If you don’t put on a case, like for example Mr. Davis, you can’t hold that 

against Mr. Davis.  You have a right to remain silent, so on and so forth.  The burden 

does at all times remain with the State.  

 

18 VRP at 2881.  The State went on to argue that when a defendant does put on a case, the State 

is able to question the evidence and the defense presented, including asking why certain witnesses 

did not testify.  The State further argued: 

You heard from [a defense counsel] why the State didn’t call Mr.  Cooper 

or Mr. Legend or any of these people.  Because they never would have told you the 

truth.  They never would have said: “You know what?  I love these guys, but, yeah, 

what they did wasn’t appropriate; what they did was just malicious.”  And so you’re 

not going to get those witnesses.  But if those witnesses who are tight, as you heard 

from these defendants, are tight with these defendants, where are they to back up 

what they’re saying?  That’s not burden shifting.  That’s simply assessing the 

credibility of what they have to say. 

 

VRP at 2882-83.  Smalley objected and the objection was overruled.   

D. VERDICTS AND SENTENCING 

 The jury found Smalley guilty of first degree murder, second degree murder, and three 

counts of first degree assault.  The jury also found that Smalley or an accomplice was armed with 

a firearm for all offenses.  The jury further found that the State proved aggravating circumstances 

on all charges.  The jury entered the same verdicts against Avington.  The jury found Davis not 

guilty of all charges.   

 At Smalley’s sentencing, the trial court dismissed the second degree murder charge to 

prevent a double jeopardy violation with the conviction for first degree murder.  The trial court 

determined that a standard range sentence was appropriate despite the jury’s findings on 

aggravating circumstances.  The trial court imposed a high end range sentence on each count.  The 

trial court also imposed the mandatory firearm sentencing enhancements.  All terms of 
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confinement were ordered to be served consecutively because all charges were serious violent 

offenses.  Smalley was sentenced to a total of 929 month’s total confinement.   

 Smalley appeals. 

ANALYSIS 

A. LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE 

 Smalley argues that the trial court erred by refusing to instruct the jury on manslaughter as 

a lesser included offense for first degree murder.4  We disagree. 

 A defendant has a statutory right to have the jury instructed on a lesser included offense.  

State v. Condon, 182 Wn.2d 307, 316, 343 P.3d 357 (2015); RCW 10.61.006.5  Since 1978, 

Washington courts have used the two-pronged test in State v. Workman to determine whether a 

defendant is entitled to an instruction on a lesser included offense: 

                                                 
4  Smalley also argues that he was entitled to an instruction on the lesser included offense of first 

degree manslaughter because, from the evidence, the jury could find that Smalley reasonably 

believed that he needed to act in self-defense but recklessly used more force than was warranted.  

Smalley raises this argument for the first time on appeal. 

  

 Under RAP 2.5(a), we may refuse to consider arguments raised for the first time on appeal.  

Although Smalley objected to the trial court’s decision to decline the first degree manslaughter 

instruction, he did not argue that he was entitled to the instruction because he recklessly used more 

force than necessary to defend himself.  And the trial court’s ruling was not based, in any way, on 

the theory that a first degree manslaughter instruction was appropriate because the use of force 

was recklessly more than necessary.  Further, Smalley does not address RAP 2.5(a)(3) or any 

exception to waiver in his briefing.  See State v. Cox, 109 Wn. App. 937, 943, 38 P.3d 371 (2002) 

(when an appellant fails to provide argument or authority, this court is not “required to construct 

an argument on behalf of appellants”).  Therefore, we decline to consider Smalley’s argument 

raised for the first time on appeal that the trial court should have given the lesser included offense 

instructions because he recklessly used more force than necessary in self-defense. 

 
5  RCW 10.61.006 states, “In all other cases the defendant may be found guilty of an offense the 

commission of which is necessarily included within that with which he or she is charged in the 

indictment or information.”   
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Under the Washington rule, a defendant is entitled to an instruction on a 

lesser included offense if two conditions are met.  First, each of the elements of the 

lesser offense must be a necessary element of the offense charged [legal prong].  

Second, the evidence in the case must support an inference that the lesser crime was 

committed [factual prong]. 

 

90 Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 584 P.2d 382 (1978) (citations omitted).  Although Workman is the well-

established test for determining whether a defendant is entitled to an instruction on a lesser 

included offense, our Supreme Court has recently recognized that some of the cases interpreting 

the Workman test have caused some confusion regarding the second prong (the factual prong) of 

the Workman test—specifically, the language in State v. Fernandez-Medina.6  State v. Coryell, 197 

Wn.2d 397, 415, 483 P.3d 98 (2021).     

 In Fernandez-Medina, our supreme court explained the application of the factual prong of 

the Workman test as follows: 

The purpose of this test is to ensure that there is evidence to support the giving of 

the requested instruction.  If interpreted too literally, though, the factual test would 

impose a redundant and unnecessary requirement because all jury instructions must 

be supported by sufficient evidence.  Necessarily, then, the factual test includes a 

requirement that there be a factual showing more particularized than that required 

for other jury instructions.  Specifically, we have held that the evidence must raise 

an inference that only the lesser included/inferior degree offense was committed to 

the exclusion of the charged offense. 

 

141 Wn.2d at 455 (citation omitted).  Although not incorrect, our Supreme Court has recognized 

that this language has resulted in courts weighing evidence and mistakenly believing that evidence 

is required to show that the greater charged crime was not committed.  Coryell, 197 Wn.2d at 414-

15.  Thus, our Supreme Court clarified that “[i]mplicit within Workman’s reasoning is the idea that 

                                                 
6  State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000).  
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when there is affirmative evidence from which the jury could conclude that only the lesser included 

offense occurred, a lesser offense instruction should be given.”  Id. at 414.   

 Coryell also clarified that conflicts in evidence are questions of fact for the jury, not the 

trial court.  Id.  It is improper for the trial court to weigh evidence when ruling on jury instructions.  

Id. at 415.  If the trial court’s decision on a lesser included offense instruction is based on a factual 

determination, we review the decision for an abuse of discretion.  Id. at 405.   

 First degree murder by extreme indifference requires that a person act with extreme 

indifference, an aggravated form of recklessness, which creates a grave risk of death to others, and 

caused the death of a person.  RCW 9A.32.030(1)(b).  On the other hand, first degree manslaughter 

requires that a person recklessly caused the death of another.  RCW 9A.32.060(1)(a).  A person 

“acts recklessly when he or she knows of and disregards a substantial risk that a wrongful act may 

occur and his or her disregard of such substantial risk is a gross deviation from conduct that a 

reasonable person would exercise in the same situation.”  RCW 9A.08.010(1)(c).    

 Case law shows that a defendant charged with first degree murder is entitled to a first 

degree manslaughter instruction if there is some evidence that the defendant shot at an object rather 

than at a group of people.  See State v. Henderson, 182 Wn.2d 734, 745-46, 344 P.3d 1207 (2015); 

In re Pers. Restraint of Sandoval, 189 Wn.2d 811, 823, 408 P.3d 675 (2018).  For example, in 

Henderson, the defendant fired several shots toward a house party and our Supreme Court held 

that a rational jury could have found that the defendant acted with recklessness because of 

(1) testimony from the party’s hosts that only three people were outside the house 

at the time of the shooting, (2) police testimony that no bullets or bullet strikes were 

found inside the house, where the majority of the partygoers were located, (3) the 

fact that most of the shots hit the side of the house or cars on the street and did not 
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appear to land near people, and (4) testimony that Henderson shot from the street 

rather than closer to the house. 

 

182 Wn.2d at 745.  Based on this evidence, our supreme court determined that “the jury could 

have concluded that Henderson intended to scare those in the house by erratically firing his gun 

rather than aiming at the security people in the yard.”  Id. at 745-46.  Our Supreme Court applied 

the same reasoning in Sandoval, where the defendant was charged as an accomplice for a drive-by 

shooting of a van.  189 Wn.2d at 822-23. 

 Here, Smalley specifically testified that he shot directly toward Walls, McIntyre, and King, 

who were standing in a crowd of people at the entrance of the club.  And Smalley testified that he 

shot King.  Smalley’s shots actually hit people and many bullets struck near to people even if they 

did not hit people.  Smalley’s own testimony established that he intentionally fired toward a crowd 

of people, rather than erratically toward the building or another object.  Therefore, the evidence 

established that Smalley did not erratically fire toward an object, but rather specifically fired 

toward a crowd of people outside of the club.  Because Smalley specifically fired toward a crowd, 

there was no evidence that would allow a reasonable jury to infer that Smalley only committed 

manslaughter.  Accordingly, the trial court properly denied Smalley’s request for an instruction on 

manslaughter as a lesser included offense to first degree murder. 

B. SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE 

 Smalley argues there is insufficient evidence supporting his convictions for first degree 

murder and for first degree assault against Hendricks.  We disagree.   

 We review challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence by considering whether, after 

viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have 
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found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.  State v. Rich, 184 Wn.2d 

897, 903, 365 P.3d 746 (2016).  When the sufficiency of the evidence is challenged in a criminal 

case, all reasonable inferences from the evidence must be drawn in favor of the State and 

interpreted most strongly against the defendant.  State v. Homan, 181 Wn.2d 102, 106, 330 P.3d 

182 (2014).  A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State’s evidence and all reasonable 

inferences that can be drawn from the evidence.  Id.  Circumstantial evidence and direct evidence 

are considered equally reliable.  State v. Miller, 179 Wn. App. 91, 105, 316 P.3d 1143 (2014).   

1. First Degree Murder 

 Smalley argues that there was insufficient evidence to support the jury’s verdict finding 

him guilty of first degree murder.  Smalley’s argument is grounded on his contention that he did 

not act with extreme indifference; instead, he intentionally shot at King.   

 A person is guilty of first degree murder if “[u]nder circumstances manifesting an extreme 

indifference to human life, he or she engages in conduct which creates a grave risk of death to any 

person, and thereby causes the death of a person.”  RCW 9A.32.030(1)(b).  The distinction between 

intentional murder and extreme indifference murder depends on whether the defendant’s actions 

endangered life in general or simply endangered the life of a particular victim.  State v. Berge, 25 

Wn. App. 433, 437, 607 P.2d 1247, review denied, 94 Wn.2d 1016 (1980).   

 Here, Smalley may have purposefully shot at Walls, McIntyre, and King, but Walls, 

McIntyre, and King were standing with a crowd outside of a club filled with people.  Smalley’s 

actions were not directed at just one person with the intent to hurt that person.  While Smalley shot 

at Walls, McIntyre, and King, he did not simply endanger only them; Smalley’s shots endangered 

all of the people in the crowd around the entrance to the club.  Smalley acted with extreme 
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indifference to all of the people in the crowd around the entrance to the club when he shot at Walls, 

McIntyre, and King.  By endangering life in general, Smalley acted with extreme indifference.   

 Smalley contends that his case is more like Berge and State v. Anderson, 94 Wn.2d 176, 

616 P.2d 612 (1980).  However, Berge and Anderson are distinguishable because the defendants’ 

actions were directed specifically toward a single person without endangering other people.  Berge, 

25 Wn. App. at 434 (defendant fired 30 shots into victim sleeping on a couch); Anderson, 94 Wn.2d 

at 179 (defendant placed child in bathtub filled with hot water).  Unlike Berge and Anderson, 

Smalley’s actions endangered an entire crowd of people, not simply the three people that Smalley 

intended to shoot.  Accordingly, there was sufficient evidence to support the jury’s verdict finding 

that Smalley committed first degree murder as charged.    

2. Assault Against Hendricks 

 Smalley argues that there was insufficient evidence to support the jury’s verdict finding 

him guilty of first degree assault against Hendricks.  Smalley’s argument relies on there being 

other shooters besides himself and Avington who may have shot Hendricks.   

 A person is guilty of first degree assault “if he or she, with intent to inflict great bodily 

harm . . . [a]ssaults another with a firearm or any deadly weapon or by any force or means likely 

to produce great bodily harm or death.”  RCW 9A.36.011(1)(a).   

 Here, Smalley does not dispute that a firearm was used or that there was intent to inflict 

great bodily harm.  Smalley only argues that there was insufficient evidence to establish that he or 

an accomplice actually assaulted Hendricks by shooting her.  Smalley’s argument is unpersuasive.  

First, Hendricks was at the entrance of the club and in the immediate vicinity of where Smalley 

admitted he was aiming and shooting.  Therefore, there was sufficient evidence for the jury to infer 
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that Smalley shot Hendricks.  Second, even if the jury did not infer that Smalley directly shot 

Hendricks, the jury could infer that an accomplice, either Avington or the third shooter in the 

parking lot, shot Hendricks because the State showed that the three shooters in the parking lot shot 

toward the crowd by the door.  Accordingly, there was sufficient evidence supporting the jury’s 

verdict that Smalley or an accomplice shot Hendricks.   

C. ACT ON APPEARANCES JURY INSTRUCTION 

 Smalley argues that the trial court erred by instructing the jury on the incorrect standard 

for using lawful force as it relates to the assault charge.7  Specifically, Smalley argues that the jury 

should have been instructed that Smalley was entitled to “act on appearances” if he had a good 

faith belief based on reasonable grounds that he or another was in danger of only injury rather than 

great bodily injury.  We disagree.  

 An “act on appearances” instruction instructs the jury that a defendant is entitled to act in 

self-defense based on a good faith and reasonable belief that there is an actual danger of injury.  In 

other words, a defendant is entitled to act in self-defense based on the appearance of actual 

danger—actual danger is not required.  A jury instruction that informs the jury that a defendant is 

entitled to act on the appearance of actual danger of injury, rather than great bodily injury, is 

appropriate in cases involving non-deadly force.  State v. Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d 856, 863, 215 P.3d 

                                                 
7  In the assignments of error, Smalley frames this issue as ineffective assistance of counsel.  

However, Smalley’s argument is dedicated to whether the trial court erred in its instructions.  

Smalley only provides one conclusory sentence asserting that we “should hold that trial counsel 

was ineffective for not excepting to the failure to give his own proposed instruction.”  Br. of 

Appellant at 32-33.  We do not consider assignments of error unsupported by argument or citation 

to authority.  RAP 10.3(a)(6).  Accordingly, we do not address Smalley’s ineffective assistance of 

counsel claim.   
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177 (2009).  “Deadly force” is specifically defined as “the intentional application of force through 

the use of firearms.”  RCW 9A.16.010(2). 

 Here, Smalley used deadly force by intentionally firing a firearm.  Because Smalley used 

deadly force, he was not entitled to a jury instruction establishing the lawful use of non-deadly 

force.8  In other words, because Smalley used deadly force, he was not entitled to a jury instruction 

stating that he was entitled to act on appearance of danger of only injury.  Accordingly, the trial 

court’s jury instruction was not in error.   

D. DISMISSAL OF JUROR 32 

 Smalley argues that the trial court erred by failing to follow the requirements of GR 37 in 

response to the objection raised to the peremptory challenge to juror 32.9  We disagree.   

GR 37 was established “to eliminate the unfair exclusion of potential jurors based on race 

or ethnicity.”  GR 37(a).  “A party may object to the use of a peremptory challenge to raise the 

issue of improper bias.”  GR 37(c).  Once an objection under GR 37 is made, “the party exercising 

the peremptory challenge shall articulate the reasons the peremptory challenge has been 

exercised.”  GR 37(d).  After an objection is made and a response is given, the court shall evaluate 

                                                 
8  Even the case the Smalley asserts is authoritative recognizes that the jury instruction used in this 

case sets out the standard for self-defense applicable in deadly force cases.  State v. Woods, 138 

Wn. App. 191, 201, 156 P.3d 309 (2007).   

 
9  The State argues that Smalley may not appeal the trial court’s decision on the State’s peremptory 

challenge because Avington made the GR 37 challenge rather than Smalley.  However, RAP 2.5(a) 

provides, “A party may raise a claim of error which was not raised by the party in the trial court if 

another party on the same side of the case has raised the claim of error in the trial court.”  Because 

Smalley and Avington were co-defendants, they were on the same side of the case. Accordingly, 

Smalley may appeal the trial court’s decision on GR 37 despite the fact that Avington made the 

challenge at the trial court rather than Smalley. 
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the reasons given in light of the totality of the circumstances.  GR 37(e).  “If the court determines 

that an objective observer could view race or ethnicity as a factor in the use of the peremptory 

challenge, then the peremptory challenge shall be denied.”  GR 37(e).   

 GR 37(f) defines an objective observer as a person who “is aware that implicit, 

institutional, and unconscious biases, in addition to purposeful discrimination, have resulted in the 

unfair exclusion of potential jurors in Washington State.”  GR 37 also provides guidance for the 

circumstances that are to be considered, presumptively invalid reasons for exercising a peremptory 

challenge, and conduct that has also been historically associated with improper discrimination in 

jury selection.  GR 37(g)-(i).   

 Although GR 37 does not specifically require that the trial court determine the race or 

ethnicity of a juror prior to entertaining a challenge under GR 37, it is clear that GR 37 is meant to 

address the historical and systemic exclusion of jurors based on race or ethnicity.  GR 37(a).  And 

the related, modified-Batson10 test used in Washington requires that a defendant present a prima 

facie case of racial discrimination by demonstrating that the struck juror is a member of a 

cognizable racial group.  City of Seattle v. Erickson, 188 Wn.2d 721, 732, 398 P.3d 1124 (2017).   

 Here, the record before us does not establish that juror 32 was a member of a cognizable 

racial or ethnic group.  Neither the State nor the court identified juror 32 as a member of a racial 

or ethnic group.  And Avington could not identify anything specifically demonstrating that juror 

32 was a member of a racial or ethnic group, alleging only that juror 32 “appeared to be mixed 

with something” based on her hair color and slightly darker skin.  6 VRP at 932.  And, on appeal, 

                                                 
10  Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L. Ed. 2d 69 (1986).   
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Smalley identifies no additional facts that would establish that juror 32 is a member of a cognizable 

racial or ethnic group.  Because there is nothing in the record establishing that juror 32 is a member 

of a cognizable racial or ethnic group and the purpose of GR 37 is to address unfair exclusion of 

juror based on race or ethnicity, Smalley has failed to show that GR 37 applies to the State’s 

exercise of a peremptory challenge to dismiss juror 32.   

E. RECALLING JOHNSON AS A WITNESS 

 Smalley argues that the trial court denied him the right to present a defense by refusing his 

request to recall Johnson as a witness.  We disagree.   

 Our Supreme Court has established a two-part test to determine whether a defendant’s 

Sixth Amendment right to present a defense was violated.  State v. Jennings, 199 Wn.2d 53, 58, 

502 P.3d 1255 (2022).  First, we review the trial court’s evidentiary ruling for an abuse of 

discretion.  Id.  Then, we review de novo whether the exclusion of evidence violated the 

defendant’s constitutional right to present a defense.  Id. at 58-59.   

1. Evidentiary Ruling 

 We review a trial court’s evidentiary rulings for an abuse of discretion.  Id. at 59.  “A trial 

court abuses its discretion if ‘no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial court.’”  

Id. (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting State v. Atsbeha, 142 Wn2d 904, 914, 16 P.3d 626 

(2001)).   

 Under ER 401, relevant evidence is “evidence having any tendency to make the existence 

of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable 

than it would be without the evidence.”  However, relevant evidence may be excluded “if its 

probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the 
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issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless 

presentation of cumulative evidence.”  ER 403.  Additionally, ER 611(a)(2) allows the trial court 

to exercise reasonable control over the mode and order of interrogating witnesses in order to avoid 

needless consumption of time.  

 Here, Smalley specifically wanted to recall Johnson to address three issues: (1) whether 

she had said Smalley was bragging, (2) whether Smalley knew someone had been shot and killed 

at the time he was at Johnson’s house, and (3) whether Johnson believed that Smalley was involved 

in making the threats against her.  But, as the trial court pointed out, the issue regarding Smalley 

bragging had already been thoroughly addressed in Johnson’s testimony and recalling Johnson to 

further address it would be needlessly cumulative and a waste of time.  Further, it was clear from 

Johnson’s testimony that she only overheard Smalley speaking and that she did not speak to 

Smalley or discuss the events with Smalley so it is unclear how Johnson’s testimony would have 

been relevant to what Smalley did or did not know at the time he was making the statements.  

Finally, Johnson had already testified that a threat was made, there was no evidence linking 

Smalley to the threat, and Smalley already had an opportunity to cross-examine Johnson regarding 

the threat.  The trial court reasonably expressed concern that allowing continued questioning 

regarding the threat could lead to prejudicial testimony regarding gangs that had already been 

excluded.   

 The trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying the request to recall Johnson to testify 

to evidence that was cumulative and potentially prejudicial.  Because the trial court did not abuse 

its discretion in denying the request to recall Johnson, we must next determine whether exclusion 

of Johnson’s additional testimony violated Smalley’s constitutional right to present a defense. 
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2. Constitutional Right to Present a Defense 

 “A criminal defendant’s right to present a defense is guaranteed by both the federal and 

state constitutions.”  Jennings, 199 Wn.2d at 63.  “However, the Constitution permits judges to 

‘exclude evidence that is repetitive . . . , only marginally relevant or poses an undue risk of 

harassment, prejudice, [or] confusion of the issues.’”  Id. (alterations in original) (internal 

quotation marks omitted) (quoting Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 326-27, 126 S. Ct. 

1727, 164 L. Ed. 2d 503 (2006)).  When the trial court excludes relevant evidence, “the reviewing 

court must weigh the defendant’s right to produce relevant evidence against the State’s interest in 

limiting the prejudicial effects of that evidence to determine if excluding the evidence violates the 

defendant’s constitutional rights.”  Id.   

 Here, as discussed above, the evidence that Smalley wanted to elicit by recalling Johnson 

was cumulative and posed the risk of introducing prejudicial gang evidence into the trial.  Johnson 

had already testified extensively about whether Smalley was actually bragging about the shooting 

when she overheard him talking to her fiancé.  And Johnson could not speak to what Smalley knew 

about King’s death because she never spoke with Smalley.  Therefore, exclusion of Johnson’s 

testimony on these two issues did not violate Smalley’s constitutional right to present a defense. 

 Further, additional questions regarding the threat made to Johnson’s fiancé were collateral 

to Smalley’s defense and posed the risk of introducing prejudicial gang evidence into the trial.  

There was no evidence introduced at trial that established the threat was related to Smalley.  And 

additional evidence regarding whether Johnson thought the threat came from Smalley has little to 

no relevance to Smalley’s self-defense claim.  Therefore, exclusion of this additional testimony 

did not violate Smalley’s right to present a defense.  
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F. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT 

 Smalley raises various claims of prosecutorial misconduct occurring throughout trial and 

in closing argument.  Smalley contends that the prosecutor’s misconduct, either individually or its 

cumulative effect, requires reversal. 

To prevail on a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, Smalley must show that the prosecutor’s 

conduct was improper and prejudicial.  State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 756, 278 P.3d 653 (2012).  

First, we determine whether the prosecutor’s conduct is improper.  Id. at 759.  If the prosecutor’s 

conduct was improper, we must then determine whether the conduct was prejudicial.  Id. at 760.   

We determine whether the defendant was prejudiced under one of two standards of review.  

Id.  “If the defendant objected at trial, the defendant must show that the prosecutor’s misconduct 

resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury’s verdict.”  Id.  If the 

defendant did not object at trial, the defendant must show that “the prosecutor’s misconduct was 

so flagrant and ill intentioned that an instruction could not have cured the resulting prejudice.”  Id. 

at 760-61. 

In order to show that the prosecutor’s conduct was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that no 

instruction could have cured the resulting prejudice, the defendant must show that “(1) ‘no curative 

instruction would have obviated any prejudicial effect on the jury’ and (2) the misconduct resulted 

in prejudice that ‘had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict.’”  Id. at 761 (quoting 

State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438, 455, 258 P.3d 43 (2011)).  We “focus less on whether the 

prosecutor’s misconduct was flagrant or ill intentioned and more on whether the resulting prejudice 

could have been cured.”  Id. at 762. 

  



No.  55212-4-II 

 

 

32 

1. Trivializing Burden of Proof and Discounting Ability to Vote Not Guilty 

 Smalley argues that the prosecutor trivialized the burden of proof during closing argument 

by using a puzzle analogy.  Smalley also argues that the prosecutor’s statement that a not guilty 

vote would be a miscarriage of justice compounded the prosecutor’s trivialization of the burden of 

proof.  We disagree. 

 It is improper for the prosecutor to make arguments that misstate the State’s burden to 

prove the defendant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.  State v. Lindsay, 180 Wn.2d 423, 434, 326 

P.3d 125 (2014).  While references to a puzzle in discussing the “beyond a reasonable doubt” 

standard may result in prosecutorial misconduct, this has generally been limited to instances where 

prosecutors have quantified the percentage of the puzzle that needed to be completed in order for 

a jury to find that a crime was committed beyond a reasonable doubt.  Id. at 436.  On the other 

hand, the prosecutor does not commit misconduct where there is “no reference to any number or 

percentage and merely suggested that one could be certain of the picture beyond a reasonable doubt 

even with some pieces missing.”  Id. 

 Here, the prosecutor did not quantify a number or percentage of puzzle pieces that equated 

to reasonable doubt or beyond a reasonable doubt.  And the prosecutor did not trivialize the burden 

of proof by equating it to simple everyday decisions.  In fact, the prosecutor specifically reminded 

the jury that the beyond a reasonable doubt standard was not encountered in everyday decision 

making.   

Further, the prosecutor did not tell the jury that a not guilty vote was a miscarriage of 

justice.  Rather, in the context of reiterating the State’s burden of proof, the prosecutor told the 

jurors that if they found that all the elements of the crime were proven beyond a reasonable doubt 
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but the jurors voted not guilty because of additional unanswered questions, then that would be a 

miscarriage of justice.   

The prosecutor did not use an improper puzzle analogy nor did the prosecutor trivialize the 

burden of proof by equating it to every day decision making.  And because the prosecutor did not 

tell the jury that voting not guilty was a miscarriage of justice, the prosecutor did not otherwise 

misstate the burden of proof.  Accordingly, the prosecutor’s comments were not improper.     

2. Arguing Facts Not in Evidence 

 Next, Smalley argues that the prosecutor argued facts not in evidence by creating a false 

narrative that self-defense was plan B and speculating about whether witnesses that were not called 

would have told the truth.  We disagree. 

 A prosecutor enjoys wide latitude when making a closing argument.  State v. Fisher, 165 

Wn.2d 727, 747, 202 P.3d 937 (2009).  We review allegedly improper comments in context of the 

entire argument.  Id.  A prosecutor is permitted to draw reasonable inferences from the evidence.  

State v. Robinson, 189 Wn. App. 877, 893, 359 P.3d 874 (2015).  And a prosecutor is permitted to 

argue reasonable inferences from evidence respecting the credibility of witnesses.  Thorgerson, 

172 Wn.2d at 448.  References to evidence outside the record constitutes misconduct.  Fisher, 165 

Wn.2d at 747. 

 The prosecutor’s argument that self-defense was plan B was a reasonable inference from 

all of the evidence.  There was evidence that Smalley left the scene of the shooting and almost 

immediately thereafter went to Hawaii using another person’s identification.  The reasonable 

inference from this evidence is that Smalley did not intend to admit involvement in the shooting.  

Further, given the undisputed video evidence in this case, it is reasonable to infer that the 
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defendants decided to pursue self-defense after realizing that they could not deny involvement in 

the shooting.  The prosecutor’s argument fit within the wide latitude prosecutors are given to make 

reasonable inferences from the evidence during closing argument.  Therefore, the prosecutor’s 

plan B argument was not improper. 

 Further, the prosecutor did not argue facts outside the record by arguing the uncalled 

witnesses would not have told the truth, but was making a fair response to defense counsel’s 

closing argument.  18 VRP at 2882 (“You heard from [a defense counsel] why the State didn’t call 

Mr. Cooper or Mr. Legend or any of these people.”).  A prosecutor is entitled to make a fair 

response to a defense argument so it was not misconduct for the prosecutor to offer its own 

assessment of the people who were not called as witnesses in response to the arguments made by 

the defense.  See State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 566, 940 P.2d 546 (1997), cert. denied, 523 U.S. 

1007 (1998).  Defense counsel made arguments speculating as to why the prosecutor did not call 

witnesses; thus, it is fair for the prosecutor to respond to that argument by offering their own 

explanation for why the State did not call the witnesses.  Accordingly, the prosecutor’s argument 

was not improper. 

3. Shifting the Burden of Proof 

 Smalley also argues that the prosecutor shifted the burden of proof to the defendants by 

implying the defendants had a duty to retreat and that they had to justify all of their shots.  Further, 

Smalley argues that the prosecutor shifted the burden of proof by arguing a different standard of 

proof applies when a defendant testifies, referring to the prosecutor’s arguments relating to why 

the defendants did not call other witnesses to testify.  We disagree. 



No.  55212-4-II 

 

 

35 

 To obtain a self-defense jury instruction, the defense must produce some evidence 

demonstrating self-defense.  State v. Walden, 131 Wn.2d 469, 473, 932 P.2d 1237 (1997).  Once 

the defendant meets this burden, the burden shifts to the State to disprove self-defense beyond a 

reasonable doubt.  Id.  “The mere mention that defense evidence is lacking does not constitute 

prosecutorial misconduct or shift the burden of proof to the defense.”  State v. Jackson, 150 Wn. 

App. 877, 885-86, 209 P.3d 553, review denied, 167 Wn.2d 1007 (2009). 

 Here, the prosecutor’s argument as whole did not impermissibly shift the burden of proof.  

As discussed above, the prosecutor did not misstate or trivialize the burden of proof.  The 

prosecutor repeatedly stated that the State carried the burden.  However, the defendants did present 

evidence of self-defense and it was then the State’s burden to disprove self-defense.  One of the 

ways that the State attempted to disprove self-defense was to argue that the evidence presented by 

the defense was lacking and insufficient.  This alone does not impermissibly shift the burden of 

proof.  Id.  Accordingly, the prosecutor’s conduct was not improper. 

 Further, the prosecutor did not improperly argue that the burden shifted to the defense when 

the defense chose to put on evidence.  Instead, the prosecutor argued that, while the burden of 

proof always remained with the State, when the defense presented evidence, the weight and 

credibility of that evidence was subject to the same scrutiny as the State’s evidence.11  Arguing 

                                                 
11  Specifically, the prosecutor argued: 

 

 This is important, too.  These defendants when they testified—or, sorry—

these defendants have no burden of proof.  Let’s be clear about that.  If you choose 

to put on a case, that’s your right.  If you choose not to put on a case, that’s your 

right.  If you don’t put on a case, like for example Mr. Davis, you can’t hold that 

against Mr. Davis.  You have a right to remain silent, so on and so forth.  The burden 

does at all times remain with the State.   
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that the weight of the evidence presented by the defense is subject to scrutiny is not improperly 

shifting the burden of proof.  Accordingly, the prosecutor’s argument was not improper. 

4. Comment on Exercise of Constitutional Rights 

 Smalley argues that the prosecutor committed misconduct by improperly commenting on 

Smalley’s exercise of constitutional rights.  We disagree.   

 Our Supreme Court “has recognized that ‘[t]he State can take no action which will 

unnecessarily chill or penalize the assertion of a constitutional right and the State may not draw 

adverse inferences from the exercise of a constitutional right.’”  State v. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d 759, 

806, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006) (alteration in original) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting State 

v. Rupe, 101 Wn.2d 664, 705, 683 P.2d 571 (1984)), overruled on other grounds by State v. W.R., 

Jr., 181 Wn.2d 757, 336 P.3d 1134 (2014).  However, “not all arguments touching upon a 

defendant’s constitutional rights are impermissible comments on the exercise of those rights.”  Id.  

“[T]he relevant issue [is] ‘whether the prosecutor manifestly intended the remarks to be a comment 

on that right.’”  Id. at 807 (quoting State v. Crane, 116 Wn.2d 315, 331, 804 P.2d 10, cert. denied, 

501 U.S. 1237 (1991)).  “[S]o long as the focus of the questioning or argument ‘is not upon the 

exercise of the constitutional right itself,’ the inquiry or argument does not infringe upon a 

                                                 

 But when you choose to present evidence, when you choose to testify, your 

testimony, your evidence is subject to the same exacting scrutiny as the State’s 

evidence.  You don’t get a free pass.  Because “I don’t have a burden; I can put 

anything I want on the stand; I can say whatever I want,” that’s not how it works.  

When you choose to present evidence, it’s subject to the same exact scrutiny, and 

when you say things like, “well, I saw a gun and my buddies who were right there 

looking in the same direction would have seen the same thing unless they’re blind,” 

it is appropriate to say why aren’t they here? 

 

18 VRP at 2881-82.   
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constitutional right.”  Id. (quoting State v. Miller, 110 Wn. App. 283, 284, 40 P.3d 692, review 

denied, 147 Wn.2d 1011 (2002)).   

  a. Comments on right to carry firearms 

 Smalley argues that the prosecutor improperly commented on his right to carry a firearm 

by repeatedly questioning why Smalley would need a gun for self-defense.  Smalley also relies on 

several questions that the prosecutor asked while questioning witnesses.12   

 Here, the prosecutor’s comments were not an infringement on Smalley’s constitutional 

right to carry a firearm for self-defense.  This case obviously involved firearms and two competing 

narratives: the State arguing that the defendants escalated a physical altercation into a deadly 

confrontation by using firearms and the defendants arguing that they acted solely in self-defense 

in response to Walls displaying a firearm.  The prosecutor’s questions went to undermining the 

defendant’s claim of self-defense, not to a direct comment that the defendants were guilty because 

they were carrying firearms.  Because the focus of the prosecutor’s comments was not on the 

exercise of the right to carry firearms, the prosecutor’s questions were not an improper comment 

on the exercise of Smalley’s constitutional right. 

                                                 
12  Specifically, Smalley references the following questions:  

 

12RP 1877 (“Do you know why Mr. Smalley needed you to buy guns on 

his behalf?”); 16RP 2405 (“And that’s why you armed yourself with a firearm that 

had at least 17 rounds in it, correct?”); 16RP 2438-39 (questioning why Smalley 

needed another gun after he gave the weapon from the incident away); 17RP 2551 

(to Mr. Avington—“I was curious.  You said you were coming up here initially to 

go meet some girls; is that right? . . . .  What’s the need for the loaded .40 caliber 

gun?”). 

 

Br. of Appellant at 64, n.51. 
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  b. Comment on the right to remain silent 

 Smalley argues that the prosecutor improperly commented on Smalley’s right to remain 

silent by introducing evidence that Smalley did not stay at the scene, did not contact the police, 

and was uncooperative when arrested in Hawaii.   

 In 2013, the United States Supreme Court held that the prosecution’s use of the defendant’s 

silence in a voluntary police interview did not violate the Fifth Amendment because the defendant 

did not actually invoke the privilege.  Salinas v. Texas, 570 U.S. 178, 186, 133 S. Ct. 2174, 186 L. 

Ed. 2d 376 (2013) (Alito, J. lead opinion).  Washington courts have recognized that, after the 

decision in Salinas, there is a meaningful distinction between comments on pre-arrest and post-

arrest silence.  State v. Terry, 181 Wn. App. 880, 888-89, 328 P.3d 932 (2014); State v. Magana, 

197 Wn. App. 189, 195, 389 P.3d 654 (2016), abrogated on other grounds by State v. Johnson, 4 

Wn. App. 2d 352, 421 P.3d 969, review denied, 192 Wn.2d 1003 (2018) (“The rule from Salinas 

is that absent an express invocation of the right to silence, the Fifth Amendment is not an obstacle 

to the State’s introduction of a suspect’s pre-arrest silence as evidence of guilt.”).   

 Here, any comments that the prosecutor may have made on Smalley’s silence were pre-

arrest and, therefore, did not implicate the Fifth Amendment.  Further, most of what Smalley 

complains about is actually comment on his actions rather than his silence.  See State v. Freeburg, 

105 Wn. App. 492, 497-98, 20 P.3d 984 (2001) (“Evidence of flight is admissible if it creates ‘a 

reasonable and substantive inference that defendant’s departure from the scene was an instinctive 

or impulsive reaction to a consciousness of guilt or was a deliberate effort to evade arrest and 

prosecution.’  Actual flight is not the only evidence in this category; evidence of resistance to 

arrest, concealment, assumption of a false name, and related conduct are admissible if they allow 
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a reasonable inference of consciousness of guilt of the charged crime.” (footnote omitted) (quoting 

State v. Nichols, 5 Wn. App. 657, 660, 491 P.2d 677 (1971)).  Because Smalley never invoked his 

right to remain silent and his conduct was evidence of flight the prosecutor could reasonably draw 

inferences of guilt from, the prosecutor’s conduct was not improper. 

  c. Comment on right to a jury trial 

 Smalley argues that the prosecutor improperly commented on his right to a jury trial during 

opening statements.  Specifically, Smalley relies on the following statement made by the 

prosecutor during opening statements: 

That’s why you’re here today.  Make no mistake about it.  And that’s why 

they’re here.  They are here today because they chose not only to throw away their 

own lives but to end the life of a young man and to paralyze a young woman who 

had nothing to do with any of them.  That’s why you’re here.   

 

7 VRP at 976-77.   

 Here, the prosecutor’s comment did not invite the jury to draw a negative inference from 

the defendant’s exercising their right to a jury trial.  The prosecutor’s statement was not focused 

on the defendant’s choice to have a jury trial but rather that the case was about the crimes the 

defendants allegedly committed—specifically, killing King and paralyzing Hendricks.  The focus 

of the prosecutor’s comment was on the defendant’s actions, not on the defendants’ exercise of 

their right to a jury trial.  Accordingly, the prosecutor’s comments were not improper. 

5. Disparaging Defense Counsel and Vouching for Police  

 Smalley further argues that the prosecutor committed misconduct by vouching for the 

police and disparaging defense counsel.  We disagree. 
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  “Prosecutorial statements that malign defense counsel can severely damage an accused’s 

opportunity to present his or her case and are therefore impermissible.”  Lindsay, 180 Wn.2d at 

432.  And “[i]mproper vouching occurs when the prosecutor expresses a personal belief in the 

veracity of a witness or indicates that evidence not presented at trial supports the testimony of a 

witness.”  Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d at 443.  It is also improper for a prosecutor to make comments 

that impugn the role or integrity of defense counsel.  Lindsay, 180 Wn.2d at 432.   

 Here, the State pointed out that defendants fled and hid, and it took months for law 

enforcement to locate them.  The State referenced that finding the defendants was “[g]reat police 

work.”  18 VRP at 2714.  The State also went on to state, “This self-defense claim is preposterous 

considering the outstanding law enforcement work on identifying them.”  18 VRP at 2714.  The 

State further argued: 

But when I say you’re entitled to an attorney who will advocate for what’s 

in your best interest, make no mistake about it.  What is in these men’s best interest 

is to not be held accountable for the 30 rounds they rained down that club that night, 

and so in pursuit of that objective, counsel will advance any argument, any claim, 

any assertion of what the evidence is that moves the ball in that direction, whether 

it is true or not. 

 

18 VRP at 2831-32.   

 Here, the prosecutor did not express a personal opinion on the veracity of law enforcement 

witnesses by commenting that they did great and outstanding police work because this was not a 

comment specifically on the veracity of the witnesses; rather, it was simply an offhand comment 

on the police work done on the case in general.  And even assuming, without deciding, that the 

prosecutor’s remarks regarding defense counsel and labeling the self-defense claim as 

preposterous were improper, Smalley fails to meet his burden to establish prejudice. 
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 Because Smalley did not object to the State’s remarks, Smalley must show that the remarks 

were so flagrant and ill-intentioned that an objection would not cure the prejudicial effect.  See 

Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 760-61.  If Smalley had objected to the prosecutor’s comments about defense 

counsel’s role or labeling the self-defense claim as preposterous, the trial court could have given 

a curative instruction and instructed the jury to disregard the isolated comments.  Because the 

prosecutor’s improper comments were isolated and a timely objection could have cured the 

prejudice, Smalley has failed to meet his burden to show prejudice.    

6. Case Based on Sarcasm and Appeal to Emotion  

 Smalley argues that the prosecutors in this case engaged in sarcastic and mocking behavior 

throughout the trial, particularly in the prosecutors’ cross-examination of the defendants.  Smalley 

also alleges that the prosecutors compounded this misconduct by sneaking in gang evidence 

through Snapchat videos.  We disagree. 

 Here, the issues relating to the prosecutors’ sarcastic and mocking behavior and allegations 

that the prosecutors improperly appealed to emotion were already resolved by the trial court, and 

Smalley does not assign error to those trial court rulings.  The trial court explicitly found that the 

prosecutor did not engage in any misconduct.  Even if Smalley had assigned error to the trial 

court’s ruling on the motion to dismiss, we give deference to the trial court’s ruling because the 

trial court is in the best position to evaluate prejudice.  State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 719, 940 

P.2d 1239 (1997), cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1008 (1998).  Based on the trial court’s unchallenged 

ruling on the motion to dismiss, Smalley has failed to show that the prosecutor engaged in improper 

conduct based on sarcasm and appeal to emotion. 
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 Further, Smalley alleges that the prosecutors’ improper conduct was compounded by the 

prosecutors sneaking gang evidence into the trial.  This allegation is belied by the record on appeal, 

including Smalley’s counsel’s own statements to the trial court.  When Smalley’s counsel first 

brought the Snapchat videos to the attention of the trial court, counsel clearly stated he did not 

believe the State saw the gang signs in the videos.  However, two days later, Smalley accused the 

prosecutors of knowing that the videos contained gang signs despite the prosecutors clearly stating 

that they did not identify any of the hand gestures as gang signs.  Despite this record, Smalley now 

alleges on appeal that the prosecutors committed misconduct by sneaking this evidence into the 

record.  That did not happen.   

The prosecutors proffered evidence that the court ruled was admissible.  There is no 

evidence that the State knew the evidence contained potential gang signs.  And after the defense 

identified the potential issue, the trial court, not the State, determined that there was not enough 

evidence establishing the hand gestures were gang signs to order already admitted evidence be 

redacted.  Further, the trial court explicitly ordered that the attorneys could not make reference to 

the hand signs.   

 Smalley does not assign error to the trial court’s evidentiary rulings related to the Snapchat 

videos nor does he allege that the prosecutors violated the trial court’s ruling prohibiting 

referencing the hand signs.  Smalley’s recharacterization of the facts does not establish that the 

prosecutors acted improperly by sneaking gang evidence into the trial.  Smalley has failed to show 

that the prosecutors acted improperly. 
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7. Cumulative Error 

 Smalley also argues that the cumulative errors resulting from prosecutorial misconduct 

requires reversal.  We disagree. 

 Cumulative error applies when numerous errors deny the defendant their right to a fair trial, 

“even if each error standing alone would be harmless.”  State v. Venegas, 155 Wn. App. 507, 520, 

228 P.3d 813, review denied, 170 Wn.2d 1003 (2010).   

 Here, the only errors related to prosecutorial misconduct are possibly the prosecutor’s two 

comments disparaging defense counsel.  Even together, these alleged errors did not deprive 

Smalley of a fair trial.  Because the prosecutor’s comments were brief and extremely isolated, and 

were made in the context of a much larger, more extensive argument, and in light of the 

overwhelming evidence, the two alleged improper comments did not deprive Smalley his right to 

a fair trial.  Accordingly, cumulative error does not require reversal of Smalley’s convictions.   

 We affirm. 

 A majority of the panel having determined that this opinion will not be printed in the 

Washington Appellate Reports, but will be filed for public record in accordance with RCW 2.06.040, 

it is so ordered. 

  

 Lee, J. 

We concur:  

  

Glasgow, C.J.  

Price, J.  
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